
 
 

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

3.00 pm TUESDAY, 9TH JULY, 2019 
COUNCIL CHAMBER 

 
A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 2.30 pm.   

This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 

the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.   

 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Youth Offending Service   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

5 - 10 

4. Reconfiguration of Adult Accommodation Services   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

11 - 22 

5. Annual Report on Social Services (2018/19)   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

23 - 64 

6. Inspection of Community Mental Health Team   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

65 - 104 

7. Forward Work Programme 2019/20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

105 - 116 

8. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   



  
 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors:  W R Smith (Chair) 
                     S Jago (Vice-Chair) 

  
 Councillors: G Richards, T Rogers, D Sammon and 

I Thomas 
 
Co-optees: E Davies 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Youth Offending Service 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a statement on the performance of the YOS 

within Cwm Taf 2018/19, and to consider key areas for development and 
improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Acknowledge the proposed strategic changes within the Youth Justice System and 

potential impact upon YOS business and Cwm Taf region. 
 
2.2 Receive further reports in due course in order to be satisfied of the progress and 

improvements being made as set out in the Youth Justice Plan 2019/20. Scrutiny 
Committee will also receive updates on the work/changes that impact upon the YOS 
generally and potential implications for Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

3.1 Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service is a statutory partnership legislated by the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998 and provides services across two local authority areas, 
namely Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil. The local authority YOS areas 
merged to form Cwm Taf YOS in August 2014. The aim of the service is to prevent 
the offending and re-offending of children and young people. The statutory partners 
are: South Wales Police; Cwm Taf Morganwwg Health Board; HM Prison and 
Probation Service; and the local authority areas of Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr 
Tydfil. These partners provide financial and staffing contributions to the Youth 
Offending Service. The Youth Offending Service also attracts external grant funding 

Date Written 28th June 2019 

Report Author Lyndon Lewis 

Service Area Cwm Taf Youth Offending 

Committee Date 9th July 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



from the Youth Justice Board, Welsh Government and the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner. 

3.2 Overall governance is facilitated by the Regional Cwm Taf Offender Management 
Board (OMB) which meets quarterly to hold the service to account, examine 
performance, and to monitor the delivery of the service.    

 
3.3 In addition to the scrutiny provided via the Offender Management Board, the Youth 

Offending Service also reports its performance on a quarterly basis to the Youth 
Justice Board (YJB), and to the Welsh Government in relation to its prevention work. 
The YOS is also subject to an inspection regime carried out by Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP). 

 
3.4 As the preventative functions of the YOS are not legislated or regulated, a Full Joint 

Inspection undertaken by HMIP in 2017 focussed only upon the statutory provision of 
the service. However, it should be acknowledged that a significant proportion of YOS 
business is carried out within the prevention arena, which has impacted positively on 
reducing the numbers of first time entrants (FTE’s), meaning less young people 
coming through the law courts and entering into the criminal justice system. 

 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 The last report to this committee provided a full summary of the 2017 Full Joint 

Inspection. Overall, the judgements of the inspection process presented a balanced 
picture of the service and the YOS set out an action plan to make improvements in 
areas of practice that required improvement (attachment below). This included the 
need for the Offender Management Board to strengthen its role in directing strategic 
planning, and to ensure that young people known to the service had access to 
mental health provision when necessary. 

 
4.2 The Offender Management Board has monitored the required improvements, and as 

well as YOS having access to mental health provision via a CAMHS/YOS Pathway, 
the service has also redeveloped its existing resources in order to gain a better 
understanding of the needs of the young people known to the service. 

 
4.3 The YOS has continued to provide an effective and efficient service in 2018/19 

against a backdrop of continued financial challenge. As in 2017/18, it has 
maintained, and in some areas, improved overall performance against the Youth 
Justice Board outcome indicators and the devolved performance measures for 
Wales. However, there continues to be further work required in order to deal more 
effectively with young people who repeat offend. To meet this challenge, the YOS 
has initiated an Enhanced Case Management (ECM) approach in order to deal 
effectively with young people who offend and who have been subject to Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACE’s). This programme is currently undergoing a full 
evaluation across youth justice services in Wales who have piloted the approach 
during the past 12 months. The YOS is also leading on work with the Offender 
Management Board to focus on those young people (and adults) who repeat offend 
and monitor this work within a new performance management framework and 
reporting mechanism.  

 
 

Page 6



5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
 
5.1 From April 2019, there has been changes to the method that the Youth Justice 

Board (YJB) monitors the performance of Youth Offending Teams.  The three 
national indicators (below) are now overseen by a UK Performance Oversight Board 
(POB) that meets on a quarterly basis, and will notify YOTs should there be 
significant decline in performance in any of the three areas. Cwm Taf YOS is banded 
and ranked against services with similar demographics and levels of social 
deprivation, and the POB focuses upon those who rate lowest in the band, and, 
where necessary, uses a ‘four stage’ escalation process where significant concerns 
are identified. Those services that are in the Cwm Taf family includes Blaenau 
Gwent/Caerphilly, Burnley, Western Bay, St Helens, South Tees, Hartlepool, NE 
Lincolnshire, Wigan, Rotherham and Doncaster. 

 
Three National Performance Indicators 

 

 Reduce numbers of first time entrants into the criminal justice system 

 Reduce the proven rate of reoffending 

 Reduce the use of custody as a sentencing option 
 
5.2 To summarise performance in 2018/19, numbers of young people entering the youth 

justice system continues to remain low, and Cwm Taf YOS can report that no young 
people entered into custody during the whole year April 2018 to March 2019. 
However, reoffending rates continue to fluctuate each quarter and remains one of 
the long term challenges for the service. 

 
5.3 The YJB has also introduced a new set of National Standards and these will also be 

subject to strict YJB monitoring activity. The YOS is expected to self-evaluate 
against a cohort of young people monitored between September 2019 to April 2020, 
and is preparing for this work alongside the development of a new quality assurance 
framework. The National Standards work is linked to our YJB funding and our 
evaluation and performance will be overseen by the Offender Management Board. 

 
5.4 Following a recent review of the youth justice system across England and Wales, the 

YJB was asked to advise Welsh Gov’t to develop a ‘Blueprint for Youth Justice’ for 
Wales. Subsequently, an Implementation Plan has now been drafted to take this 
work forward (see attachment below). Early Intervention and Prevention and a 
trauma informed, child focussed approach is central to the contents of the Blueprint, 
and how this work is taken forward will have implications for the way in which the 
YOS may need to restructure the service during this financial year. 

 
5.5 The YOS continues to be very much involved in the Merthyr Tydfil NEET Strategic 

and operational groups and has dedicated practitioners within both pre and post 16 
work.  The YOS worker’s responsibility is to engage young people in meaningful 
education, employment or training provision and to improve the amount of hours of 
engagement by the end of their YOS intervention. The YOS liaises with schools, 
colleges, training agencies, alternative education provision, CLA education teams 
and any other relevant education services to support young people back to 
education or when they are experiencing difficulty. The YOS workers also provide 
support in PRU when necessary. 

 
Page 7



5.6 As part of the monitoring and performance process, the YOS have a RAG status 
system to ensure those with difficulty are flagged at the earliest point. All YOS young 
people are entered onto this system, discussed and actioned on a fortnightly basis 
as part of a wider meeting with Careers Wales present. The team are also able to 
complete ASDAN qualifications with young people where there is an aim to engage 
young people in mainstream services. 

 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The YOS needs to ensure that it makes continuous progress in a number of areas. 

Within the backdrop of the Blueprint for Youth Justice in Wales, we need to ensure 
that our Early Intervention and Prevention Service continues to engage effectively 
with the Multi Intervention Assistance (MIA) programme in Merthyr Tydfil.  

 
6.2 We also acknowledge that improvement is required in the way in which we link into, 

and receive antisocial behaviour referrals in Merthyr Tydfil and bring more 
consistency to this area of practice in the coming year. 

 

6.3 The YOS has robust evaluation processes, much of which is centred around the 
views of young people, parents/carers and victims of crime. To enhance this work, 
the YOS is currently reviewing its use of a ‘Viewpoint’ system, which has been 
commissioned to ensure that we can more effectively identify the needs of our cohort 
and inform future service development. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1  YOS has commissioned an internal audit of its prevention services and is awaiting 

recommendations that will provide greater continuity of practice across the Cwm Taf 
region regarding how we assess, plan and align targeted interventions alongside 
partner agencies to maintain the low numbers entering the youth justice system. 
Therefore, we need to ensure that the YOS is adequately funded via the Promoting 
Positive Engagement of Young People (PPEYP) fund which sits within the Welsh 
Government Children and Communities Grant to meet our objectives and 
maintain/improve our performance in the longer term. 

 
7.2 The risks associated with the Blueprint implementation and potential 

changes/reductions to YJB and Welsh Gov’t grant funding will need to be monitored 
closely to ensure that Cwm Taf YOS can deliver its services effectively. A 
comprehensive outline of what we hope to achieve in 2019/20 will be outlined in this 
year’s Youth Justice Plan to be completed by the end of July. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1  The overall work of the Youth Offending Service contributes to Developing Safer    
Communities.  

 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S 

SERVICES Page 8



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees 

 
 

 

youth-justice-imple

menation-plan.pdf
 

Cwm Taf YOS Action 

Plan 2018 19.docx
 

QtrReport2018Q4NI

sOMB.docx
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Reconfiguration of Adult Accommodation Services  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report details the further work that has been undertaken in relation to the 

potential reconfiguration of Ty Gurnos Newydd (TGN) and Llysfaen Residential Care 
services.  
 

1.2 Detailed information on the consultation undertaken to date is included, with an 
analysis of the responses and an explanation of the amended proposals for the 
reconfiguration in response to the consultation. 
 

1.3 In summary the report proposes that resident levels in TGN be reduced to 16 units 
with the continued segregation of EMI dementia and Elderly frail residents (to be kept 
under review). This will enable a number of staff who had expressed an interest in 
VER/VR to be released whilst maintaining staff to resident rations. Concurrent to this 
the report proposes to relocate Llysfaen Learning Disability residential services to the 
empty wing in TGN and maintain current resident ratios as three permanent and two 
respite beds.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That Scrutiny committee consider the outcome of the consultation and provide 

comment prior to presentation to full Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written 24th June 2019 

Report Author Angela Edevane/ Lowri Morgan 

Service Area Adult Social Care 

Committee Date 9th July 2019 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 A previous report was submitted to Full Council in December 2018 outlining a 

number of options for consideration in relation to the reconfiguration of TGN and 
Llysfaen Residential care homes. Council requested that further work was 
undertaken in relation to each option and a further report was presented to Council in 
February 2019 with information on each and a recommendation to pursue the option 
regarding the reduction in residents and staff within TGN and the relocation of 
Llysfaen to the currently unused wing in the home.   

 
3.2 It was agreed that consultation should be undertaken on this option and a report 

brought to Scrutiny in July 2019 prior to submission to Full Council. The consultation 
undertaken is outlined below with further detail contained in appendix one for 
scrutiny by members of the committee.  

 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Ty Gurnos Newydd is a large residential care home situated in the centre of the 

Gurnos Estate close to shops and amenities. The home was originally built to 
accommodate 32 residents with a mix of 8 EMI residential and 24 Elderly Frail. 
Although the home is divided into different categories of care the home is registered 
with CIW in such a way that means that all the placements can be used for either 
elderly frail or EMI.  

 
4.2 Over time demand for the elderly frail beds within the home has diminished to the 

extent that a wing of 8 beds within the home was temporarily closed in January 2018. 
At this time the elderly frail occupancy within the home stood at 50% (a total of 11 
beds occupied out of a possible 22). Prior to this, the occupancy levels from April 
2017 until the wings closure in January 2018 stood at an average of 64%. Void levels 
were exceptionally high at 36% especially given that these figures have not taken 
account of the void levels within the respite provision. These high levels of voids 
indicated that the demand for elderly frail beds was being met elsewhere other than 
Ty Gurnos Newydd.  

 
4.3 The reduction in demand for elderly residential beds is not isolated to Ty Gurnos but 

is reflected across the sector as increased community based services are supporting 
people to remain in their own homes for longer. 

 
4.4 Llysfaen is a care home that is separated across 2 floors that provides support to 

people with a learning disability on both a long term and respite basis. There has 
been no major capital investment to improve the fabric and internal decoration of the 
building for several years. Reconfiguration of the number of respite beds had been 
undertaken previously as a result of under occupancy of this provision. 

 
4.5 In October 2018 all Local Authority staff were written to establish whether there was 

any expressions of interest in taking VER/VR. Initially 25 of the 44 staff working at Ty 
Gurnos expressed an interest to leave under these arrangements. In response to  
the level of staff who had expressed an interest in VER/VR work was undertaken to 
consider whether there was a workable model that was both financially viable  and 
maintained the quality of the service was achievable. 
 

Page 12



 
4.6 In February 2019 council approved the further exploration and consultation of the 

following options: 

 The reduction of the residential bed capacity at Ty Gurnos from 24 to 16; and 

 The transfer of the Learning Disability accommodation provision from Llysfaen to 
the empty wing at Ty Gurnos. 

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 A cost analysis has been undertaken in respect of the reduction of the capacity 

within Ty Gurnos utilising confirmed numbers of staff wishing to take VER. This has 
provided evidence that there was a viable business case that supported further 
consultation. 

 
5.2 Consultation has taken place over a three month period from April - June with 

residents, families, staff and Social Workers in respect of the options indicated 
above. 

 
5.3 The methodology of the consultation incorporated, group meetings, 1-1 discussions, 

questionnaires, telephone consultation, and  email and the details of the responses 
have been collated and included in Appendix 1. 

 
5.4 A visit to the proposed wing of Ty Gurnos was also organised for family members of 

the residents of Llysfaen. 
  
5.5 The table below outlines the activity for each of the consultation elements: 

 

 TGN LLysfaen 

Group consultations families 3 2 

Group consultations 5 2 

Open day  0 1 

1-1 sessions offered 6 8 

Uptake of 1-1 sessions  0 0 

Questionnaires distributed 38 36 

Questionnaires returned 3 4 

 
 

Key Messages from Consultation 
 

Ty Gurnos 
5.6 The key messages highlighted by families were as follows: 
 

 Concerns of mixing EMI residential and Elderly frail in particular in relation to the 
wellbeing of Elderly Frail and safety of EMI  

 The importance of retaining adequate staffing levels as they felt the care and 
support was second to none 

 The feeling that Older People’s services should not be targeted for cuts. 

 The impact this would have on dignity, physical, social and emotional wellbeing of 
the residents.  

Page 13



 Perception that people who wanted to reside at Ty Gurnos were being turned 
away and that there were a high number people who wish to live at Ty Gurnos. 

 
Llysfaen 

5.7 The key messages were as follows: 
 

 Would transition to the new building be done over time 

 Would respite work on the same floor as permanent residents 

 Would the space be homely  

 Would the home be safe 

 Will the gardens be tidied to accommodate the needs of the residents? 

 Modern facilities with en-suite for each are ideal 

 More respite should be available 
 

 
Potential Solutions to mitigating concerns 

5.8 In response to the feedback received from families the proposed model for TGN has 
been revised  to maintain the current separation between Elderly Frail and EMI with 
the continuation of the use of the self-contained EMI unit. This will be kept under 
review as it is recognised that within the Elderly Frail section of the home some 
residents may develop dementia in the future.  

 
5.9 The transition from Llysfaen to Ty Gurnos will be jointly planned with families and 

social workers to meet the specific needs of the residents.  This will include involving 
the residents and their families in the re-design and re-decoration of the internal and 
external space and individual transfer plans for each of the residents 

 
Other stakeholder consultation 

5.10 Discussions were held with the Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) who voiced no 
objection to the proposals made. 
Care management were approached for their input. Feedback received in relation to 
the proposals is as follows: 

 
Ty Gurnos Newydd 

5.11 Care management felt that any proposals needed to be mindful of changing needs 
and demand amongst the population. They felt that potentially moving towards a 
position where the whole home would accommodate EMI Dementia residents was 
positive given this would increase capacity of EMI residential placements and 
provide more space for individuals within the home to walk freely, as long as it was 
matched be appropriate staffing levels and staff training. They also felt it was 
important to maintain a respite provision within the home.   
 

5.12 In response to the concerns raised it was explained that staffing ratios would 
continue to be high (1:4) in the proposed new structure and that the Dementia Care 
Matters methodology would continue to be championed across our older people’s 
services. At present we have not been provided with information on anyone who 
could not access respite amongst the provision across the local authority area 
however this will continue to be monitored.  
 
Llysfaen  

5.13 Care managers echoed issues raised by family members in relation to a need for 
increased provision of respite. They felt that decreasing the number of permanent 

Page 14



beds from five to three was also an issue. It was also noted that Llysfaen as a 
service is a prominent aspect of the community in Cefn Coed and there would be 
concerns that this could not be replicated on the Gurnos Estate. 

 
5.14 In response to the concerns raised it was explained that respite requests are high at 

peak times (especially around weekends and holiday periods). It was also explained 
that the needs of our clients coming through transition are such that they would not 
be able to be supported in Llysfaen in any case, leaving the service under occupied.  
At present there is no robust rationale for increasing the respite provision provided. 
Families have also been re-assured that should residents or service users wish to 
continue to access the community of Cefn Coed the proposed new location of the 
home is a short taxi ride away.  

 
5.15 Staff have been consulted with throughout the process. Several meetings have been 

held to discuss the potential reconfiguration options. For staff affected revised rotas 
have been discussed and redeployment opportunities explored.  

 
 

6 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The needs of individuals accessing residential care have changed. The residential 

care service provided in TGN has seen a reduction in demand for Elderly Frail 
spaces over time. In order to future proof the service we need to look at doing things 
differently. The service reconfiguration option detailed in this report would release 
those staff who wish to go under VER/VR and also provide a fit for purpose future 
proofed facility for individuals with a learning disability.  

 
 

7 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Should Scrutiny committee endorse a detailed report would be submitted to Full 

Council with key issues and milestones for the reconfiguration. Those staff who are 
able will be released on VER/VR and the service will be reconfigured to meet the 
revised needs of its users.  
 

7.2 Funding has been identified in order to undertake the internal renovation works to 
facilitate the move of Llysfaen to TGN. Should this funding and reconfiguration 
proposal be agreed then works can begin immediately.  

 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The proposal contributes to the Living Well objective as outlined in the statement of 

wellbeing for Merthyr Tydfil. The relocation of the Llysfaen Learning disability 
residential care service will enable the service to be future proofed moving forward. 
The newer more modern en suite facilities will provide a more modern establishment 
with wider corridors enabling individuals with complex machinery aids to access the 
respite and residential services that would not have been able to previously. Given 
the drop in demand for elderly frail residential placements the proposals also 
safeguards the continuation of service delivery at Ty Gurnos Newydd as the 
proposals works towards ensuring that the building is not underutilised.  

 Page 15



 
LISA CURTIS-JONES – DIRECTOR 
SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES  
CABINET MEMBER SOCIAL SERVICES 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 

Page 16



 
Appendix 1.0 Consultation responses 
 
 
Consultation questionnaire responses  
 
Q1 Do you 

agree with 

the 

proposals? 

(Please 

circle) 

 

Q2 What are your 
main concerns with 
the proposal? 

Q3 What changes would 
you like to see as part of 
the service 
reconfiguration? 

Q4 What do you 
think the impact 
of the proposed 
changes would be 
on your family 
member? 

Q5 If this was to 
go ahead, what 
do you believe to 
be the best 
mechanism for 
managing the 
transition? 

TGN         

Yes No  No     

No 

The safety and 
wellbeing of my 
mother who has a 
right to physical, 
emotional and social 
wellbeing. There is a 
huge risk to her 
emotional wellbeing as 
she has 
communication 
problems following a 
stroke. Integrating EMI 
clients with Elderly 
Frail could mean when 
EMI patient is shouting 
/ disruptive/ 
aggressive my mother 
would be terrified. Ty 
Gurnos must be 
accountable for 
ensuring physical 
emotional wellbeing 
and the safety of all 
clients from severe 
behavioural 
disturbances which is 
likely to cause harm to 
others, The dignity of 
all must be maintained  

I understand change needs 
to be implemented. In my 
opinion the two set of 
clients have differing 
needs. EMI clients require 
closer monitoring and 
could take resources away 
from elderly frail if having a 
'bad day' and need closer 
monitoring and care input.  
If the proposal is to be a 
serious consideration both 
sets of clients will need to 
be separated. Consider a 
review of the proposed 
location to ensure 
segregation can be 
maintained as it is. 

My mother would 
be terrified if an 
EMI client entered 
her rom which is a 
possibility if clients 
are not 
segregated. Her 
emotional 
wellbeing and 
dignity would be 
compromised. She 
cannot get out of 
her chair and walk 
unaided, her 
speech is not good 
and she is frail as 
many others are. 

The EMI and 
Elderly frail 
residents need to 
be kept safe in an 
environment 
conducive to their 
needs. This can 
be best achieved 
by having 
dedicated areas 
of care suitable to 
their needs. EMI 
clients do not 
respond well to 
change. They 
need routine and 
that includes 
small familiar 
environments. 

Yes None none none  left blank 

          

Llysfaen          

No No Comment 

Stay at Llysfaen Respite 
with more availability than 
at present  Not too good 

Having more 
people in at 
weekends  

Page 17



Yes She doesn't mind 
she doesn't mind a change 
as long as its in the area The same 

Don't know it 
would be the 
same from Hayley 

No 

Llysfaen has been a 
home from home for 
our daughter I…. We 
have got used to 
sending her to Llysfaen 
for years knowing fully 
well that she was 
taken good care of. 
We do not know so 
much about Ty Gurnos 
Newydd. We will like 
to receive more 
information about the 
proposed home. 

Modern facilities with en-
suite for each bedroom is 
ideal. Safe area for 
residents with similar 
conditions to relax and 
unwind will also be ideal. 
Separate areas for young 
adults with recreational 
facilities. Maintaining 
carers which clients are 
used to is highly desirable.  

It means that we 
have to travel a 
longer distance to 
reach the care 
home. We will 
miss the serenity 
of Llysfaen. 

Gradual 
introduction of 
clients to the new 
home. Will be 
desirable if more 
facilities in terms 
of spaces could 
be secured for 
the new place - 
increase the 
number of respite 
places. 

Yes 

That the staffing 
arrangements will 
change 

That the care staff 
opinions, points of view 
and valid experienced 
comments are given every 
consideration prior to the 
transition.  

Our son only 
requires short 
term respite on 
two occasions a 
year which is the 
requirement to 
keep him on the 
official register. 
The main 
advantage that 
needs to be 
retained is the 
privacy factor so 
that a quiet 
undisturbed 
environment 
allows a peaceful 
stay. We would 
hope this essential 
factor has been 
given careful 
consideration. 

A 'Phased' 
transfer would 
allow a gradual 
acceptance and 
awareness of the 
new facilities. A 
good start bodes 
well for the 
future.  

 
 

Page 18



Feedback from the Llysfaen Open Day  
 
The opportunity to welcome families and carers went extremely well. There was a very 
positive overall feel to the day and the positivity from the staff I had there supporting was 
very comforting to the families who attended.  
 
Here are some of the questions asked throughout:-  
 

 Will there be more homely furnishings? Suite, TV, dining table 

 Will the gardens be tidied and accommodating to their needs? 

 Will the fences be painted? 

 Some repairs noted in rooms, will they be meant?  

 Recommended another open day when everything is in place before we move. 
 
Overall, there was nothing raised in respect of the move, it was more with the décor.  
 

Page 19



Highlight information from the Llysfaen Consultation meeting with families  
 
A meeting was held on both the 15th and 17th of April 2019 where family were invited to 
discuss the proposals and raise any concerns. Families were provided with information 
around the proposals for the relocation of Llysfaen and the reduction in bed spaces in Ty 
Gurnos Newydd.  
 
Key Issues raised by the families were as follows: 
 

 Can increased respite be offered? 

 Will Staff change? 

 What will the security be like in the new home? 

 Will the permanent residents mix well with respite clients? 

 Will the transition be managed appropriately?  

 Will reducing the permanent spaces be an issue for any future applicant? 

 Relocating to the Gurnos would mean that the respite service is very close to the 
family home which could impact on the benefit of having respite in the first place  

 
In response to the issues raised it was explained to families that respite has high demand 
times including weekends and holiday periods which would make increasing respite spaces 
unfeasible in the long term. It was also explained that in the wing of Ty Gurnos Newydd 
there would not be space for an additional room as the facility would be reconfigured to 
include a quiet lounge, sensory room and assisted bathroom.  
 
Families were reassured that the staff would remain the same and would transfer to Ty 
Gurnos Newydd. The security arrangements were discussed and families were pleased that 
there would be increased opportunities for social activity due to better transport links to the 
area.  
 
Arrangements around how the mix of permanent and respite users would work were 
discussed and families appeared satisfied that the proposals would continue to meet their 
family members’ needs. Families were also re-assured that the transition would be 
managed sensitively and over a period of time.  
 
Concerns raised over the reduction in permanent spaces were discussed. Families were 
advised that many of the individuals who are coming through transition would be unsuitable 
for Llysfaen in any case and as such the decision to reduce capacity should have no ill 
effect on ability to meet needs. It was also agreed that Llysfaen staff would share personal 
plans with families so they are more aware of what activity is taking place and when in 
order that they can minimise the chances of ‘running in to’ each other.  
 
In summary the following were agreed with family members: 
 

1. Families could come back with further questions if they wanted 
2. An open day would be arranged in TY Gurnos Newydd for families to view the 

building 
3. It was confirmed that the local authority was not seeking to close Ty Gurnos Newydd 
4. The relocation of the service was not dependent on agreement to the change in 

service at Ty Gurnos Newydd 
5. Officers would continue to keep the families updated  

Page 20



Highlight information from the Ty Gurnos Newydd Consultation meeting with families 
 
A meeting was held on both the 15th and 17th of April 2019 where family were invited to 
discuss the proposals and raise any concerns. A further meeting was held on the 8th of May 
2019 with families and Member representation from Councillor Kevin O’Neill and Councillor 
Chris Davies. Families were provided with information around the proposals for the 
relocation of Llysfaen and the reduction in bed spaces in Ty Gurnos Newydd.  
 
Key Issues raised by the families were as follows: 
 

 Families were worried about security issues should the Elderly Frail and EMI 
Dementia residents be co-located 

 Families felt that the minimum disruption would be best by maintaining the EMI 
Dementia self-contained unit  

 Elderly Frail residents would potentially be frightened by individuals with a dementia 
if they were going into their rooms or having a difficult day in the lounge especially 
those residents who were immobile and unable to remove themselves from the 
situation 

 Where is respite being provided? 

 The wellbeing of residents is not being considered by proposing that they integrate 
into the same space  

 The smaller environment within the EMI unit is better for the residents with a 
dementia  

 Why can’t the redundant wing be offered as an EMI Dementia unit?  

 Any financial savings should not be made across residential settings  
 
In response to the issues raised by families the proposals have been adjusted to reflect the 
need to maintain the EMI unit as a spate self-contained wing. This will be kept under review 
until such a time as the remaining residents would be able to integrate more easily due to 
their own cognitive decline.  
 
Families were reassured that respite is still being provided in other settings including the 
local authority home at Ty Bargoed Newydd. Staffing ratios would increase to 1:4 across 
the whole home however this ratio would not support the creation of a further EMI wing as 
this would impact on the availability of staff to support the remaining elderly frail residents 
within the home.  
 
 
In summary families stated the following: 
 

1. There was no issue with reducing the beds 
2. The biggest concern would be mixing the residents as families would prefer to keep 

EMI self-contained  
3. Any mixing would need to be managed and trialled over a long period of time  
4. There is a need to ensure appropriate staffing levels are maintained 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Annual Report for Social Services 2018-2019 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report is to provide information in respect of the Social Services Annual Report 

for 2018-2019. 
 
1.2 In April 2016 we saw the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being 

(Wales) Act 2014.  This was a significant piece of legislation designed to change the 
relationship between the Local Authority, its partner organisations and the public.  As 
part of the Act, a new Performance Framework was introduced.  The new framework 
resulted in a change to the data and information we collect and the way in which we 
collect it.  We will now be required to gather additional information and report on the 
difference we are making on peoples’ lives. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  Scrutiny Committee Members note and debate the contents of the report. 
  
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Local Authority is required to report annually to Welsh Government on 

performance across its Social Services.      
 
3.2 The Chief Officer (Social Services) in her role as Statutory Director of Social 

Services is responsible for publishing an annual report on performance and the 
effectiveness of social care services across the County Borough.  The Annual Report 
on Social Services 2018-2019 has been produced in accordance with the Annual 
Council Reporting Framework (ACRF) and is intended to provide an overview of our 
performance for the period April 2018 to March 2019; highlighting what we are doing 
well, areas for improvement and our priorities for the year ahead (2019-2020). 

Date Written 24th June 2019 

Report Author Lisa Curtis-Jones 

Service Area Social Services 

Committee Date 9th July 2019 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



3.3 In previous years the Report has focused on five strategic service areas: 
‘Safeguarding Vulnerable People’, ‘Services for Adults’, ‘Services for Children’, 
‘Services for Carers’ and ‘Managing our Business’.  Each section was aimed at 
providing a picture of how well our services have performed over the previous year, 
what we could improve on and the key priorities for the following year. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In 2016-2017 the format of the report changed and now includes six sections: 
 

 Welcome and Introduction. 

 Director’s Summary of Performance 

 How are people shaping our services 

 Promoting and Improving the wellbeing of those we help 

 How we do what we do; and 

 Accessing further information and key documents.    
 
4.2 The difference to previous reports is section 4 where there is now a requirement to 

focus on wellbeing in line with the Social Services and Wellbeing Act (2014).  In the 
new report format we are asked to provide information on the following: 

 

 Working with people to define and co-produce personal wellbeing outcomes that 
people wish to achieve. 

 Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and 
mental health and emotional wellbeing. 

 Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm. 

 Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society. 

 Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and 
personal relationships. 

 Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic wellbeing have 
a social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs. 

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 
5.1 We are required to carry out consultation on the Annual Report and this commenced 

in April 2019 with Scrutiny members and ended on the 17th June 2019, with drop in 
sessions at the Civic Centre and online surveys. The consultation findings will be 
included in the final report for submission to Welsh Government. 

 
5.2 This year’s report for 2018-2019 sets out our achievements in promoting and 

improving the well-being of those people needing our support.  As part of this report, 
I have set out how we are performing, the developments and challenges we have 
encountered and our priorities for the next 12 months.  

 
5.3 As in previous years, local authorities continue to face significant financial pressures.  

We have continued to work hard to achieve the savings the Council needs to make 
whilst doing our best to ensure that the services we provide are not adversely 
affected.  

 

Page 24



5.4 We want to help people to achieve a higher level of well-being.  It also means 
helping people to help themselves, to make better choices and access different 
types of support.  The Council has adopted 5 ways of working which are designed to 
ensure we are in a position to provide sustainable services now and in the future.  
These principles ensure we take a ‘Long Term’ view to plan for the future, a focus on 
‘Prevention’, ensuring our services are ‘Integrated’ with local communities and other 
partner agencies, that we ‘Collaborate’ with and ‘Involve’ the people who use our 
services and our partners in their development.  These 5 ways of working were 
introduced with the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.  
 

5.5 We continue to be committed to implementing the ‘Five Year Welsh Language 
Promotional Strategy for Merthyr Tydfil (July 2017)’ and actively encourage staff to 
attend Welsh Language courses which we provide in order that the residents of 
Merthyr Tydfil have the opportunity to communicate and receive services in Welsh. 
 

5.6 The draft Annual Report, which was presented to Scrutiny on the 23rd April highlights 
in more detail the priorities we set for ourselves last year and what progress we have 
made against each of these areas. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 
6.1 As outlined in the Annual Report in my role as Chief Officer Social Services, I play a 

key role in ensuring the successful delivery of the Council’s well-being objectives.  
This includes responsibility for the ‘Living Well’ objective which seeks to ensure 
‘people are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health’.   

 
6.2 Within the Annual Report we have highlighted areas we considered last year and the 

improvements or changes we have made.  We have also outlined key priority areas 
for 2019-2020 in respect of social care services.  

 
6.3 As part of the consultation with the public areas highlighted were as follows: 

 we need to listen to people. 

 services to be offered in a timely manner. 

 meet need rather than consider financial issues. 

 good communication between public and social services. 

 be open and honest with people. 
  
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 
 
7.1 The Annual Report will be presented to Scrutiny and Council.  It will be scrutinised 

and reviewed by Care Inspectorate Wales.  We have the priorities set out as part of 
our Social Services Strategy and we will monitor and review progress throughout the 
year.  

 
7.2 We listened to the views of Scrutiny members about the content of the report 

following scrutiny consultation in May. Some changes were made to the report as a 
result but it is worth noting that the format of the report will change next year as there 
is currently consultation taking place on an all Wales basis about the future format of 
the report. Certainly the feedback we had from the public that it wasn’t a user friendly 
report and we realise that we need to do something different next year. The report as Page 25



it is presented today will be the format that is submitted to Welsh Government but we 
will work over the next year to improve this and take everyone’s views on board, 
which hopefully make the report more accessible next year. One person commented 
that felt for a member of the public ‘the report was commendable’ but as someone 
who has a social worker ‘it was disappointing’ as it doesn’t focus on individuals, it’s 
about whole service. Next year we need to consider how we get more individual 
stories included in the final report.  

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The Annual Report on Social Services for 2018-2019 links with the theme Living Well 

has one main objective:  
 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health 

 
This main objective seeks to prioritise activities which focus on early intervention and 
prevention.  The priority is to deliver services that support people to lead healthy 
independent lives in a safe environment.  We want to motivate and support people to 
develop positive physical and mental health behaviours, build resilient communities 
where people live free from harm and have a good quality of life. 

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)  

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES    
CABINET MEMBER FOR                 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Annual Report on Social 
Services 2018-2019 

June 2019 Unit 5, Pentrebach 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

 

Page 26



 1 

  

Social Services Department 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

  
Annual Report on  
‘Social Services’ 

2018 / 2019 
  

This Report is available in other languages and 
formats upon request. 

 

Email:  ACRF@merthyr.gov.uk 
 

www.merthyr.gov.uk 

Page 27



 2 

Contents 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

■ Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being  
outcomes that people wish to achieve             10 - 14 

■ Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s  
physical and mental health and emotional well-being           14 - 17  

■ Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm    17 - 23 
■ Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in 

society                         23 - 25 
■ Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic,  

family and personal relationships                       25 - 26 
■ Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being 

have a social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs 26 - 28 
 
 
 
 
 

■ Our workforce and how we support their professional roles         29 - 31 

■ Our financial resources and how we plan for the future       32 

■ Our partnership working, political and corporate leadership, governance   

and accountability               32 – 35 
  

 
 
 

Section 1: Welcome and Introduction          3 - 5 

Section 4:   Promoting and Improving the well-being of those  
 we help                           10 - 28 

Section 5:   How we do what we do                                  29 - 34 

Section 2: Director’s Summary of Performance                 6 - 7 

Section 3: How are people shaping our services        8 - 9 

Section 7: Further information and key documents                38 

Section 6:   Consultation                                    36 - 37 

Page 28



 3 

 
 
 

As our Council’s Chief Officer (Statutory Director) of Social Services, it is part of my job to report to 
you every year on how well our Social Services department is working and how well we are 
performing in helping to provide services to those who need care and support.  
 
This year’s report for 2018 to 2019 sets out our achievements in promoting and improving the well-
being of those people needing our support.  As part of this report, I set out how we are performing, 
the developments and challenges we have encountered and our priorities for the next 12 months.  
 
The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 was implemented in April 2016 and the changing 
practice, policy and service delivery required is progressing well and is being embraced locally and 
regionally.  
  
During 2018/19, children’s services staff have continued to deliver positive outcomes for children 
and young people in Merthyr Tydfil under the duties of the Social Services and Well-being Act.  We 
are enormously proud of our looked after young people, some of whom have achieved local, 
national and international recognition for their outstanding achievements. Within Adult Services we 
continue to be committed to support people to live fulfilled lives in their own homes and 
communities and have worked in partnership with Cwm Taf University Health Board and 
neighbouring authorities to this end.  This year the Stay Well @ Home Service received Social Care 
accolade awards. There were 2 awards on the same evening for the health care awards; 

 Working seamlessly across organisations 

 Outstanding contribution to prudent healthcare 
   
The tackling poverty agenda continues to be a focus across the County Borough and is led through a 
strategic group of not only the council, but its partners in Health and the third sector. However, we 
are clear that early intervention and prevention in partnership with our communities provides the 
best possible solution to a range of the challenges we face as a local authority. There will certainly be 
a focus on Early Intervention and Prevention as we move forward into 2019/20 
 
As in previous years, local authorities continue to face significant financial pressures.  We have 
continued to work hard to achieve the savings the Council needs to make whilst doing our best to 
ensure that the services we provide to you are not adversely affected.  
 
Despite a reduction in the budget areas for both Adult & Children’s Social Care Services we have 
continued to deliver services to those who have been assessed as being the most vulnerable in our 
community. To date we have achieved this through focussing the limited resources on those areas 
that will have the maximum impact in maintaining people’s independence to ensure that they can 
remain in their own community and reduce longer term demands on services.  
 
Whilst every effort has been made to deliver services within the funding available the increasing 
numbers of children and older people that we need to protect has meant that this has not always 
been possible. There has been higher demand in 2018/19 in both Adults and Children Services, with 
an increase in packages of care to maintain adults within their own home and a big increase in our 
Looked After children population. This has meant pressures on the budget within Social Services. 
There has been the availability of grants from Welsh Government in respect of winter pressures and 
prevention work, which has assisted the Council.  
 

Section 1: Welcome and Introduction    
          

Page 29



 4 

However we continue to want to help people to achieve a higher level of well-being.  It also means 
helping people to help themselves, to make better choices and access different types of support.  
Following the introduction of the ‘Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act the Council has 
adopted 5 ways of working which are designed to ensure we are in a position to provide sustainable 
services now and in the future.  These principles ensure we take a ‘Long Term’ view to plan for the 
future, a focus on ‘Prevention’, ensuring our services are ‘Integrated’ with local communities and 
other partner agencies, that we ‘Collaborate’ with and ‘Involve’ the people who use our services and 
our partners in their development. 
 
We continue to be committed to implementing the ‘Five Year Welsh Language Promotional Strategy 
for Merthyr Tydfil (July 2017)’ and actively encourage staff to attend Welsh Language courses which 
we provide in order that the residents of Merthyr Tydfil have the opportunity to communicate and 
receive services in Welsh. 
 
As part of the ‘Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act; the information we collect and the way in 
which we collect it has changed.  We have been gathering additional information and reporting on 
the difference we are making on peoples’ lives which has contributed to how we are judging our 
performance.  The use of “well-being standards” means that we take a wider account of the impact 
that our services are having on people’s lives, their place in their communities, family relationships, 
access to work and education and protecting people from harm.  Because of doing things differently 
we are recording different information and considering the impact of services on people, asking 
ourselves “what difference have we made to people’s lives?” 
 
Doing different things, working smarter, making better use of our assets has never been so 
important.  The Council intends to make effective use of the Well-being of Future Generations Act to 
safeguard the well-being of Merthyr Tydfil now and over the long term.  The Council has identified 
four key wellbeing objectives – details of which are set out in our ‘Statement of Wellbeing’.  In 
addition to this, we have also documented what we will do and how we will work to deliver our 
objectives (‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community’).   
 
In my role as Chief Officer Social Services, I play a key role in ensuring the successful delivery of the 
Council’s well-being objectives.  This includes responsibility for the ‘Living Well’ objective which 
seeks to ensure ‘people are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health’.  Our priorities for 2018/19 were: 
 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm 

 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community resilience 

 Promoting health behaviors and increased levels of physical activity 

 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health 

 Provide clear and accessible information and advice 

 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home. 
 
We are in the process of reviewing and rationalizing these priorities to ensure they are more 
focused. Children and Adult Services will continue to work on their specific strategies and plans and 
overall Social Services for ‘Living Well’ will focus on three main priority outcomes for 2019/20: 
 

 People live independently within their communities. 

 Children and Adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe. 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and have 
transitioned well into adulthood. 

Page 30



 5 

 
I would like to take this opportunity to offer my personal thanks to all the dedicated staff who have 
continued to work very hard to meet the needs of the most vulnerable in our community.  Staff 
continue to work extremely hard and strive to do the best for the people in Merthyr Tydfil. It isn’t 
always easy with budget constraints, regional working and other pressures, but staff are our best 
asset and I cannot commend them enough for all their hard work and continued support. Within 
2018/19 Children Services were inspected by Care Inspectorate Wales and they recognised the 
‘competent well qualified work force that was committed to achieving good outcomes for children 
and families.’ Also in March 2019 the CMHT underwent an inspection which was again positive. The 
whole staff team were praised for their work and they were extremely positive about the leadership 
styles of both managers within the service and how this impacted positively upon the health, 
positivity and ethos of the team (across health and local authority).  
 

 
 

Mrs Lisa Curtis-Jones 
Chief Officer (Social Services) - Statutory Director of Social Services 

Page 31



 6 

 
 
 

 

The Social Services and Wellbeing Act and the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act are now 
embedded into practice.  Both required the Council to strengthen the governance arrangements and 
performance management. Both pieces of legislation required us to work more closely with our 
partners and collaboration.  I feel that excellent progress continues to be made on partnership 
working in 2018-19.  The Regional Partnership Board involving all partners and elected members 
from both authorities (MTCBC & RCTCBC) meets on a monthly basis, and officers meet at the 
Transformational Leadership Group aside from this.  In this arena plans are formulated on a regional 
basis and as a result new initiatives have been developed across Cwm Taf Morgannwg. We have the 
Stay Well @ Home Service (SW@H), this service works to ensure people are not staying in hospital 
longer than necessary and they can return home in a timely manner with the required package of 
support.  This prevents bed blocking within the hospital and provides better outcomes for patients.  
It should be acknowledged that the Integrated Community Fund has allowed us to be innovative 
across the region, as it has provided an extra financial resource. 
 
In respect of SW@H patients have given positive feedback about their experiences of the service.  
This year we have engaged with a number of people to gather views about their experiences of 
various services.  Views not only show what type of service is being offered, but also assists us in 
developing plans for the future.  One of the key areas of engagement last year was the ‘care leaving 
service’, asking them ‘what services they would like in the future?’  This work was completed in 
collaboration with Voices from Care. This has assisted us in developing how the service should look 
moving forward. 
 
The WCCIS database is now embedded into Social workers day to day work and all staff have been 
trained to use this system. Staff have worked hard to get to know the system and use it fully, as 
issues arise these are being raised with the performance team and improvements considered. 
Gathering performance data still remains a challenge, although it has improved since 2017/18. Staff 
within the performance team have worked hard to develop programmes to enable the services to 
have the data they require for their day to day roles.  
 
Social Services continues to work alongside colleagues across the Council and in partnership with 
others to deliver effective services to a wide range of people.  As part of this the Tackling Poverty 
Strategic Group and Tackling Poverty Board was established within the last eighteen months.  This 
work is well established and has allowed us the opportunity to look at all the grant funding received 
into Merthyr Tydfil and consider where monies can be re-invested and try and prevent duplication.  
There has been improvements in this area this year in that there has been a review of our ‘Team 
around the Family’ which is helping to develop an ‘Early Help Hub’. An operational group has now 
been established to focus on Early Intervention and Prevention and to look to work together across 
the council on this agenda.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 2:   Director’s Summary of Performance   

Page 32



 7 

Prevention and Early Intervention is key to sustaining services in the longer term.  Last year we had 
the introduction of the ‘Edge of Care’ grant which we used effectively to support children who are in 
crisis and need extra support.  Further reviews of this service have been completed in 2018/19 with a 
view to services being changed moving forward to enable us to offer support at an earlier 
opportunity. In some circumstances children have required to be looked after but we work hard to 
match them to the most appropriate placement and are given the right support early on. 
 
This year there has been lots of positive work undertaken in Social Services.  We continue to support 
adults within their own home and react promptly to safeguarding concerns for both children and 
adults.  This is in the backdrop of continued financial pressures, as demand is increasing in the 
service but funding reducing.  We have been supported by grants being paid, for example Winter 
pressures, domiciliary care/respite provision at the end of the financial year 2018-19 which assisted 
us. 
 
Again 2018/19 has been a busy year. Demands within the service have increased with pressures 
being seen on both Adult and Children Services due to high demand with packages of care for people 
leaving hospital and requiring support to live in the community, and with an increase in our numbers 
of Children being looked after. This has put huge pressures on us in respect of budgets. However 
Safeguarding Adults and Children will always be our priority.  
 
There have been two CIW inspections this year, with Children Services being inspected in April 2018 
and the Mental health Service being inspected in March 2018. Welsh Audit Office also audited 
‘Safeguarding’ during the year. There will always be areas we can learn from but overall the feedback 
has been positive, which I feel is a major achievement when you consider the budget position and 
increasing demands for our service. 
 
I feel overall we have made achievements, which are outlined within the main body of the report 
and we will endeavor to continue this good work moving forward in 2019/20. 

Page 33



 8 

 

 
 

We continue to place a high value on the engagement we have with local people, not just in 
evaluating how successful we are in delivering services that they need but in helping us to design 
what we are able to provide at the start.  
 
During 2018/19 we engaged with people in the following ways: 

 We have involved Care Experience young people in developing practice standards.  They helped 
us develop  clear and achievable standards such as: 

 

At my Best Not at my Best  

Take time to get to know a looked after young 
person for who they really are. 

Base my knowledge of looked after young 
person only from reading records.  

Looked after young people feel that their 
social worker should believe in them and is 
fighting their corner. 

Going through the motions of what is 
expected … visits, write ups, reviews and 
reports… with no intrinsic interest in the 
individual and their well-being. 

When talking to looked after young people 
keep it real, be straight forward and say things 
  as they are. 

Avoid giving negative information because I 
don’t want to upset somebody or I make 
promises that cannot be kept. 

Understand that because of looked after 
young people’s experiences, they need second 
chances. 

Criticise young people for ‘bad behaviour’.  

 

 Care Experienced young people have co-produced the specification for the revised Personal 
Adviser service for Care leavers, including in the requirements the ways of working that are more 
effective to them. 

 Foster Carers have met with us to give us a clear steer in what matters most to foster carers in 
terms of their support, training and recruitment. 

 Care Experienced young people continue to meet with support from Voices for Care Cymru and 
advise each meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board what their most pressing issues for 
change.  Recently they took part in research that calls for regional partnership boards to establish 
services to improve the emotional well-being and metal health of looked after young people. 

 Parents who have worked with the Early intervention Team have been involved in presentations 
to Social Care Wales about our way of working in Merthyr Tydfil Social Care and the 
achievements and outcomes for their children.  In each case the work of staff and parents had 
prevented their children from becoming looked after.  Their comments included  the following: 

 
I trusted her (social worker). 

 
Brilliant help, felt listened to - (and we the parents) listened to her. 

 
Hard at the start. 

(the social worker) built good relationship. 
(the social worker) got the family into action. 

 
 

Section 3:   How are people shaping our services?   

Page 34



 9 

 We have continued to work with People First and carer representatives to develop the 
implementation plan for the Statement of Intent for People with a Learning Disability.  A 
workshop was held in February to seek the views of people with people with a learning 
Disability on how we implement the service changes included in the learning Disability 
Statement of Intent. 

 We have commenced consultation in respect of domiciliary care services as part of the 
development of a regional domiciliary care strategy which will be completed in 2019/20. 

 We regularly engage with Older People through the 50+ forum and have undertaken 
consultation on Public toilets and bus passes.  

 We undertook focused consultation and engagement with service users, families and carers 
in relation to the implementation of Dementia Care Matters across the Dementia Day Service 
within Keir Hardie Health Park.  This also included feedback from other stakeholders including 
staff and the third sector.  

 Consultation is undertaken within the Local Authority Care Homes as part of the Annual 
Report process.  Overall feedback is positive – these are some of the comments received: 
 

o The staff look after the residents very well.  They treat them like family and know 
everything about them. I am so confident that each and everyone is cared for with 
compassion – thank you.  

o All the staff are friendly and nothing is too much bother. 
o It is a pleasure to have my family member here being well cared for.  Lovely staff.  

Clean home.  Friendly place.  Nothing is too much trouble.  We can see the manager at 
any time. 

o We always feel welcome.  The staff are very helpful and polite at all times.  It’s always 
a pleasure to attend this building. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

DID YOU KNOW…? 

The service has received some positive comments from the public; 
  

 Thank you for all your support, help and care over the last year (Parent) 

 We wouldn’t be together as a family without you (Parent) 

 Always on the end of the phone if I needed any advice or anything (Parent) 

 Friendly, approachable and willing to listen (Parent) 

 Was given lots of support - the parenting support was brilliant (Parents) 

 Thank you to everyone for their hard work over the weekend to ensure a child 

remained safe. You are all exceptional members of staff (Director to staff who 

rearranged their weekends to support a young person in crisis) 

 

Page 35



 10 

 

 
 

The well-being of those we help and outcomes that people want to achieve are at the heart of our 
approach to delivering sustainable social services.  We have continued to work hard and do our very 
best to meet the well-being outcomes of people who need care and support and carers who need 
support.  We want to ensure that citizens have a voice and real control over their own lives, where 
they can inform us about those things that matter to them. This means working in partnership across 
other council departments and with external partners; shaping local services according to local 
needs and circumstances.  
 
This section is the main part of the report setting out our performance in promoting and improving 
the well-being of local people who need care and support.  All local councils are required to 
demonstrate how their work is linked to the six National Quality Standards for wellbeing, and in 
doing so set out the priorities we identified for delivery over the past 12 months, plus additional 
priority actions related to new ways of working.  Importantly this is about outlining how we have 
made progress, provided evidence and real life examples of the impact on people, as well as setting 
out priorities for 2019/20. 
 
Our main goal is to “Ensure people are empowered to live independently within their communities, 
where they feel safe and enjoy good physical and mental health”.  This means that we will always 
strive to work with you to identify “what matters” to you, to avoid crises, and how we and our 
partners can help you achieve your personal outcomes.  Importantly we will continuously strive to 
improve the quality of services we provide. 
 

Working with people to define and co-produce personal 
well-being outcomes that people wish to achieve 
 

We want to make sure that we make a real difference to people’s lives.  This means helping people 
to solve their problems as quickly and effectively as possible.  For example, we gave Information, 
Advice and or Assistance to people and helped them find their own solutions.  
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
We identified the following priority areas of work for 2018/19; 
 
As part of our ongoing commitment to ensuring that we work with people of all ages and involve 
them in determining what matters most as a way of identifying personal outcomes and working 
alongside people to co-produce care and support plans we will: 
  

 Following further consultation with stakeholders; develop and implement our plan for improving 
the Information, Advice and Assistance Service for children, young people and their parents or 
carers.   

 Re-design the service for care leavers and enhance the pathway and support that is available to 
all carers including young carers. 

 

Section 4:   Promoting and improving the wellbeing of  
   those we help   

Page 36



 11 

 Develop the support that is available to families on the Edge of Care and ensure that we have the 
right evidence based support available and that children can grow up with their families 
wherever that is safe and appropriate. 

 Improve the information and support that is available for Special Guardians ensuring they have 
timely advice and support which will prevent placement breakdown.  

 To ensure the Wales Community Care Information System (WCCIS) system remains fit for 
purpose since its implementation in July 2017; we will carry out a review of what is working well 
and identify opportunities for further improvement. 

 We will continue to develop and improve the range and quality of performance information 
available to aid management decision making and satisfy our statutory and internal reporting 
requirements. 

 Work with health colleagues and evaluate GP support worker pilot impact on Information Advice 
and Assistance (IAA). 

 Undertake a strategic review of the services supported through the Integrated Care Fund. 

 Re-Register directly delivered services such as our residential homes and domiciliary care and 
monitor their requirements under the new regulations. 

 Implement the broader requirements of the social services functions contained within the ‘Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act’. 

 Implement the new arrangements for calculating grant allocations for Supporting People. 
 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make? 
 

 Having carried out a review of our Team around the Family Service called MIA, we have decided 
to develop an Early help Hub.  The review itself considered the views of families about the 
service, received input from partner organisations and considered 7 different models across 
Wales.  The Early Help Hub will bring together our staff from children’s services and grant funded 
preventative services with a view to identifying need earlier and connecting families to early 
help.  In this way we hope that the public have confidence in and take up of early help services 
will increase.  We know that by providing the right service at the right time we can, in many 
cases, prevent problems from developing or getting worse.  We will make sure that the Early help 
Hub also works to enhance the information, advice and assistance that is available to Young 
Carers and families of children with disabilities along with linking into service at the Gurnos 
Community Zone. 

 

 With the help of care leavers we have re-written the specification for the Personal Adviser care 
leavers’ service.  We have also worked with colleagues in the housing department with a view to 
improving the supported accommodation and suitable accommodation options that are available 
for care leavers.  Progress has been made under the Pathways to work.  

  

 During the year we have evaluated the outcomes of our offer to families who need the most help 
to prevent children from becoming looked after (Edge of Care).  We have built on the success of 
the Early Intervention Team’s ways of working, and consulted with research about what works to 
develop a new team with additional skills and resources including family group conferencing.  
Through this work we aim to further strengthen intensive work with families, and make progress 
with our aim of ensuring children live with their family wherever that is safe and appropriate and 
making the right decision at the right time.  We know that early intervention is important and 
also that we are better able to achieve successful and stable lives for looked after young people if 
we make the decision that they need to be looked after earlier in their childhood. 

 

Page 37



 12 

 Foster Carers have told us how helpful it can be to receive support from other foster carers.  We 
have taken this on board and will continue with the Fostering Well-being Champions who are 
foster carers who work closely with the fostering team to provide advice support to carers that 
doesn’t need the input of a social worker.  In year we have finalised the development of a key 
project – the Multi-agency Permanence Support Service which is a regional service which will 
provide consultation and support to foster carers and therapy to looked after young people who 
need it.  

 

 Colleagues have worked hard in developing a new offer to support Special Guardians.  Special 
Guardianship Order allows a relative to care for a child who might otherwise have been in the 
care system.  During the year we have evaluated our demand for support services and developed 
an offer in line with the new Code of Practice that will see us improve our offer to Special 
Guardians with an emphasis on early help and supporting Special Guardians when young people 
experience difficulties link their family background.  

 

 Since the implementation of the Wales Community Care Information System (WCCIS) in July 
2017, we have undertaken a user survey to understand what is working well and what needs to 
improve.  This information was invaluable and has been used to help us develop a WCCIS 
programme of work that will ensure ongoing improvement and ultimately customer experience.  
In addition to this, we have continued to develop the range and quality of information available 
to aid decision making and satisfy our statutory performance / data reporting requirements.  
Despite good progress being made, work to further improve the system and availability of 
information will remain ongoing. 

 

 We worked with health colleagues to evaluate the GP support scheme that has been 
operating in each of the GP Cluster areas and identified that this is supporting people earlier 
in the care pathway in line with the principles of IAA.  This scheme has been extended until 
March 2020 in order to establish whether the service can be rolled out across the region. 

 

 We said we would re-register our directly delivered care homes and domiciliary care services 
with Care Inspectorate Wales in line with the new Regulation and Inspection requirements. 

 

 The cost calculator pricing policy was implemented across our floating support programmes 
in April 2019 to ensure a consistent and transparent pricing policy across all SP programmes, 
as well as a newly commissioned Supported accommodation Contract.  Any efficiencies as a 
result of this has been used to fund innovative projects based on areas of local need, this 
includes a 50+ Dementia Housing Related Support Project and work towards a regionally 
commissioned hostel project across Cwm Taf Morgannwg.  

 

 We have also committed funds for a complex needs Mental health worker to be co-located in 
our Housing Options Office to support those presenting with complex mental health issues 
and will work on a self-neglect – Hoarding project part time also. 

 

 The final projects which will be commissioned on the cost calculator pricing policy will be our 
fixed site provision with Llamau – our Young Peoples Garth Newydd Court and Flooks 
Supported accommodation for young people with support needs. 

 
In an annual survey of people receiving support from us, we asked you to tell us about your 
experience.  Collecting this information is important to us so we can try and put it right when you tell 

Page 38



 13 

us you are not happy with your services or experience or you would like them to be different.  We 
also need to know when we are successful to ensure that the services you are receiving are effective. 
 
As part of our annual survey we invited 1239 people to participate.  This included adults, carers, 
children and parents.  Of the 1239 surveys that were distributed, 372 (30%) responded.   
 
Key: 
 

    

People were happy with 
the service 

People were sometimes 
happy with the service 
they received 

People were unhappy 
with the service they 
received 

People weren’t sure 
about the quality of the 
service they received, or 
didn’t answer the 
question 

 

Of those we surveyed, we asked … You said you were: 

                               
If you knew who to contact about their care and support. 266 38 36 12 

If you had received the right information or advice when 
you needed it. 

244 68 20 20 

 Adults and Carers if they had been actively involved in 
decisions about how your care and support was 
provided. 

 Children if their views about their care and support had 
been listened to.   

 Parents if they have been actively involved in all 
decisions about how their child / children’s care and 
support was provided 

264 46 34 28 

you had been treated with dignity and respect. 284 32 6 30 

you were happy with the care and support they had. 266 52 16 18 
 

 

What are our priorities for next year and why? 
 
In 2019/20 it is our intention to: 

 Enhance person centered planning for people with a learning disability. 

 Engage with people who use our day services that support people with a dementia as part of our 
implementation of the Dementia Care Matters model of support. 

 Increase take up of early help services to prevent problems form getting worse. 

 Reduce the number of children in Merthyr Tydfil who need to become looked after.  

 Reduce the number of looked after young people whose placement (the place where they live 
and are cared for) changes. 

 Increase the number of care leavers who are in work, employment or training. 

 In consultation with system users and managers, continue to improve the accessibility, range and 
quality of information available via the Wales Community Care Information System (WCCIS). 

 
 
 

Page 39



 14 

Progress and priorities for 2019/20 will contribute to delivery of the following Council Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals.  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 

Working with people and partners to protect and promote 
people’s physical and mental health and emotional well-
being 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
Last year we said we would:   

 Implement the review and re-design of Adult Day Service provision. 

 Undertake a formal evaluation of year 1 impact of the Stay Well @home Service. 

 The Merthyr Tydfil Supporting People (SP) Team commission services based on local need to 
provide housing-related support to vulnerable members of the community to promote 
independence and prevent homelessness. Future work is planned in consultation with multiple 
departments and sectors to identify areas of greatest need in our communities in which to 
commission services providing housing-related support.  

 We said we would continue to implement the learning Disability Strategy with following  priority 
outcomes: 
o Preventing loneliness and isolation by increasing community inclusion. 
o Looking at how we meet the range of housing needs now and in the future. 
o Improve and increase the options for further education. 

 Develop the services that are available to families on the ‘Edge of Care’.  

 Improve the placement options and support that is available to looked after young people and 
care leavers. 

 Develop our offer to Special Guardians. 
 
 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?    
 

 The re-designed edge of care service is described above.  Our development work in this area 
demonstrated how many families, where in order to improve parenting and children’s resilience 
in the long term we need to have evidence based and focused interventions and therefore the 
new service will be supported by a part time psychologist.  

Page 40



 15 

 In order to recruit more Merthyr Tydfil foster carers, and this year we have sharpened our 
approach by developing a regional team with Rhondda Cynon Taf whose work will focus on 
attracting more skilled and suitable foster carers.   

 We have reviewed and evaluated our work with families who need the most help at the edge of 
care and as a result we have a plan to improve our interventions and increase the resources that 
are available.  

 During the year we have worked towards a Placement Commissioning Strategy and achieved 
some of the cations aimed at improving the availability of suitable placements for children and 
young people in the care system.  This has included the establishment of a regional front door 
for new enquiries for foster care and recruitment of a marketing officer.  We have also 
appointed a Placement Officer who is helping us improve our work in relation to finding the 
right resources for looked after young people whose needs cannot be met by Merthyr Tydfil 
foster carers. 

 We have carried out a review of our offer to Special Guardians and found that we can make 
improvements by keeping in touch with Special Guardians, offering training and providing 
information advice and assistance form the Early Help Hub.  A proposal will be brought to 
Cabinet about this in the late Spring. 

 We have not fully implemented the re-design of Adult Day Services, however we have 
completed significant supporting work to place us in a more favourable position to take this 
forward which includes the Valley Life initiative and work with Dementia Care Matters to 
enhance the experience and support for people with a dementia. 

 We have completed a formal evaluation of the Stay Well @ Home service that identified that it 
is achieving improved outcomes for older people across Cwm Taf.  The service was also 
successful in reaching the final of the Social Care Accolades and won the two awards in the 
Health Care awards including the overarching Prudent Health Care award.  We are hoping to 
build on this success and seek opportunities to develop our community responses earlier. 

 We have worked with Social Care, Health Colleagues and Independent Care Home Providers to 
revise the care home contract so that it incorporates the requirements of the Social Services & 
Wellbeing Act and revised Regulation and Inspection of Social Care Wales Act 2016. 

 Within Supporting People, services have been commissioned, reconfigured and decommissioned 
to meet needs.  Further detail is available in the Supporting People Local Commissioning plan.  

 
Information we received when asking adults about their care and support plans: 
 

Of those we surveyed, we asked … You said you were: 

                                              
if you can do the things that are important to 
you. 

88 84 40 4 

if you know who to speak to about your care 
and support plan. 

168 26 22 0 

if you were actively involved in decisions about 
how your care and support was provided 
 

144 32 18 22 

if you were treated with dignity and respect. 178 18 2 18 

 
 

Page 41



 16 

 
What are our priorities for next year? 
 
In 2019/20 it is our intention to: 

 Continue to work with Dementia Care Matters to implement the model within our day 
services that support people with dementia. 

 Continue to work with Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB to take forward the development of the 
Valley LIFE work to enhance community services for people with a dementia. 

 Work with our regional partners to develop new models of community support for Adults as 
part of the transformational program. 

 Implement any actions identified as part of the inspection of Adult Community Mental Health 
Service in partnership with our health colleagues. 

 Implement the Early Help Hub for children, young people, parents, carers and families. 

 Establish the new revised offer to families at the Edge of Care. 

 Conclude and implement our offer to Special Guardians. 

 Establish a multi-agency permanence support service for looked after young people and their 
carers. 

 Enhance the offer of support to adopted children and parents.  

 Receive higher numbers of enquiries about being a Merthyr Foster Carer. 
 
   

 

Progress and priorities for 2019/20 will contribute to delivery of the following Council Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to be 
successful learners and confident individuals. 
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 

DID YOU KNOW…? 

During the year Children’s Services reviewed the provision under ‘Team Around The Family’ 
Called ‘MIA’. The review involved; 
 

 Listening to family views about their experiences and the service should improve 

 Listening to view of staff involved in providing ding the services 

 Understanding more about what our community’s need is by liking at facts and figures 

for example only 8% of families working with MIA go on to requires children’s services 

involvement 

As a result we are establishing an Early Help Hub which will transform the way families and 
professionals can find out more about how to get early help services. The Early Help Hub is an 
important change for us as part of our ambition to reduce the number of children who are at 
risk or need to become looked after 

 

 

Page 42



 17 

 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 

 

Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, 
neglect or harm  
 

In Merthyr Tydfil we believe that all children, young people and adults at risk have the right to be 
safe, happy and healthy and deserve to be free from abuse.  We have a range of duties to help 
safeguard: adults and children, including people with physical, visual mental or learning disability; 
older people who are frail or ill, people in households or relationships where there may be domestic 
violence; and, children who may be sexually exploited.  
 
In collaboration with our partners in the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region we ensure that: 
 

 We respond promptly to new concerns about adults and children at risk. 

 Our staff are trained to spot the signs of abuse and know what action they need to take. 

 We ask people who have experienced the safeguarding service for their views and how it could 
be improved. 

 We regularly review what we have done and challenge ourselves to find ways in which we can 
improve. 

 All staff who are employed by us are safe to work with children and adults at risk. 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) - Strategic Outcome 1 
 

 Improve the co-ordination of information sharing, decision making and integration in order for 
the MASH to continue being effective in safeguarding children and adults at risk. 

 Review information sharing systems to ensure they are effective and identify future 
requirements. 

 Through the MASH Quality Assurance Group, support the development and improvement of 
MASH safeguarding processes to ensure that multi-agency working is improving outcomes for 
children and adults at risk.  This includes a review of guidance, development of a performance 
framework and program of auditing, use of outcomes to improve learning and aid/develop 
prevention strategies specific to Cwm Taf. 

 
Performance of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (CTSB) - Strategic Outcome 2 
 

 We will ensure that the Board demonstrates how it is making a difference to the lives of children 
and adults at risk by strengthening the Performance Management Framework, improving 
methods of evaluation to measure the impact of our work and identify areas of good practice in 
other areas to help improve our work. 

 Ensure the production of relevant, accurate and timely multi-agency data. 

Page 43



 18 

 Improve challenge of safeguarding performance at Board level, identify areas for improvement 
through multi-agency audits and individual agency inspection or annual reports to support 
service improvement. 

 Contribute to the development of a national self-assessment tool to assess the effectiveness of 
the Board in safeguarding children and adults at risk. 

 
Development, implementation and monitoring of protocols and procedures - Strategic Outcome 3 
 

 Contribute to the development of National Protection Procedures for safeguarding children and 
adults. 

 Undertake a review of existing local safeguarding protocols.  We will involve and consult with the 
public in the development of new local protocols and procedures. 

 
Identifying and understanding widespread safeguarding concerns in the area - Strategic Outcome 4 
 

 Ensure that learning identified through safeguarding activities supports the development of 
prevention strategies specific to Cwm Taf. 

 Develop a set of principles for transition and identify young people who are likely to be at most 
risk and ensure that partner agencies work together to safeguard and support them through 
transition from childhood to adulthood. 

 Contribute to the national work around managing the process whereby Cwm Taf children are 
placed out of the area and where there are children from outside the area being placed in Cwm 
Taf. 

 Ensure awareness raising, training and a robust reporting structure is in place to safeguard 
children and adults at risk of criminal exploitation. 

 Partnership working, training and awareness raising with staff and the community to recognise 
early indicators of extremism. 

 Ensure staff are made aware of the National Referral Mechanism process which provides a 
framework to identify, refer and record potential victims of modern slavery.  

 Work in partnership to tackle the issues around violence against women, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence. 

 
Communication - Strategic Outcome 5 
 

 Build better relationships with our community and share information and learning on issues that 
improve awareness of safeguarding. 

 Improve communication and information sharing with staff and professionals. 
 
Practitioners in Cwm Taf receive or have access to good quality and up-to-date safeguarding 
training - Strategic Outcome 6 
  

 Ensure that training is provided on an inter-agency and individual organisational basis to assist in 
the protection and prevention of abuse and neglect of children, young people and adults at risk 
of harm.  This includes identifying training priorities and exploring the delivery and quality of 
training we provide. 

 We will share learning and examples of best practice with all partners via the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board.  

 We will utilise the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board website (www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org) and E-
Bulletin to provide up to date information to practitioners and the public. 

Page 44

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


 19 

 

Ensure the protection of people who, for their own safety and in their own best interests, need 
care that may deprive them of their liberty but who lack the capacity to consent - Strategic 
Outcome 7 
 

 Through the Quality Assurance Sub Group, we will monitor, audit and quality assure the 
effectiveness of the Depravation of Liberty Standards (DoLS) work carried out by partner 
agencies.  This includes implementation of an audit program to identify themes and lessons 
learned, analyse available data to provide the Board with a better understanding of the 
performance in relation to DoLS. 

 Ensure that training provided to staff is implemented effectively and learning from cases is 
shared and used to improve practice. 

 We will involve people in the DoLS process – this includes seeking opportunities to involve 
people (public, carers etc) and make best use of providers of advocacy services and involve these 
in the management of the DoLS process. 

 We will also evaluate how we are engaging with the people we support to ensure that the voice 
of the person is heard. 

 
 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?   
 
We have been working hard to further develop our early intervention and preventative services for 
both adults and children.  Within the Council we work to ensure that all Council departments have 
an active understanding of their safeguarding duties via the Corporate Safeguarding Steering Group. 
 
 
The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) - Strategic Outcome 1 
 

The quality of Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub information sharing and safeguarding 
processes have been evaluated through a program of auditing focusing on learning outcomes and 
developing the early intervention and prevention strategy.  There is evidence of focused work 
leading to a high level of safeguarding being achieved.  
 
 
Performance of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (CTSB) - Strategic Outcome 2 
 

The Performance Management Framework has been in development since the introduction of the 
Wales Community Care Information System (WCCIS).  This has brought benefits of improved 
information access across local authority boundaries.  The challenges of further developing this 
system are already showing increased benefits to our work.   Multi agency audits help to assess 
Board effectiveness and have highlighted areas for priority improvement helping to clarify the Cwm 
Taf Safeguarding Board’s priorities for the coming year. 
 
 
Development, implementation and monitoring of protocols and procedures - Strategic Outcome 3 
 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board is actively engaged in the process of reviewing and updating the 
National Protection Procedures alongside its local authority partners.  It is hoped the procedures will 
be complete by the end of 2019. 
 

Page 45



 20 

Cwm Taf Safeguarding protocols are subject to a rolling program of multi-agency reviews. 

 
 
Identifying and understanding widespread safeguarding concerns in the area - Strategic Outcome 4 

 
Safeguarding activities have informed Merthyr’s preventative strategy which is currently being 
strengthened as a result of learning identified. 
 
A new Successful Transition into Adulthood policy has been developed identifying a set of principles 
and promoting increased inter agency partnership working.   
 
National work has continued around managing the process where children are placed outside their 
own local authority. 
 
The Corporate Safeguarding Reference Group and close work with the Police and the Home Office 
has resulted in an increased awareness, a better understanding of and improved performance in 
managing criminal exploitation, extremism and potential victims of modern slavery. 
 
The Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 has had a 
specific focus this year with an action plan being developed to take this forward. 
 

 
Communication - Strategic Outcome 5 
 
A communication strategy is under development in Merthyr to further improve sharing of good 
practice, important learning and new policies and guidance. Work continues in Merthyr to raise 
community awareness around the importance of safeguarding. 
 

 
Practitioners in Cwm Taf receive or have access to good quality and up-to-date safeguarding 
training - Strategic Outcome 6 

 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board and regional activity feed into training development where both 
learning and best practice are shared. E-learning is increasingly used and safeguarding e-learning is 
being developed that can be available on an all council basis. 

 
 
Ensure the protection of people who, for their own safety and in their own best interests, need 
care that may deprive them of their liberty but who lack the capacity to consent - Strategic 
Outcome 7 

 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC work in partnership with Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC to deliver the Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) and the performance of the service is monitored at both a Safeguarding 
Board level and regular Local Authority Partnership meetings.  
 
In 2018/19 The DoLS Quality Assurance Sub-Group completed a programme of audits to re-assure to 
the Board and both Local Authorities that assessments produced under the Safeguards are 
completed to the highest practice standards to ensure that adults living in care homes, who lack 

Page 46



 21 

mental capacity to decide on their residence and care arrangements, have their Human Rights 
protected. 
 
There continues to be a waiting list as demand for assessments under the DoLS far outstrips the 
Council's ability to respond which is a national position. 
 
Legislative change is expected within 2019/20 that may ease the burden on local authorities, 
although it is not yet clear exactly what the impact will be.  In the meantime, requests for 
assessments are closely monitored and risk-managed to ensure that those cases where the adult's 
Human Rights are most in jeopardy are given highest priority and early attention.  In fact, Merthyr 
has successfully delivered an increase in the number of new assessments, although the number of 
re-assessments in 2018/19 has declined. 
 
Training on the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the DoLS is provided by the joint Social Care Training 
Unit and consists of 4 levels of training commensurate to specific staff roles and responsibilities.  
Evaluations of training delivered are consistently excellent and the annual training plan is informed 
by a training strategy.  
 
There has been a significant increase in referrals for professional advocacy to support individuals and 
their appointed family Representatives in 2018/19, with an increase of almost 50% in this 12 month 
period. 
 
Additional work has been carried out in Merthyr Tydfil: 
 

 The new National Protection Procedures for both Adults and Children are still in development.  
 

 Children’s Services Quality Assurance Framework has been key to driving improvements in 
quality.  This has particularly been the case in relation to highlighting the importance about the 
age of children when they become looked after.  Children’s services are much better able to 
meet the needs of children who are young when they become looked after which means that 
decision making should bear this in mind along with a range of factors.  As part of our 
performance reporting we track the age of a child who becomes looked after. 
 

Survey with service users in respect of ‘if they felt safe following intervention’: 
 

We asked you if you … felt safe 

 

You said you were: 

                                                

Children 81 10 2 0 

Adults 170 30 6 10 

Carers 29 8 4 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 22 

 
 
What are our priorities for next year? 
 

 Our priorities for the year ahead are set out in the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding Board 
Annual Plan for 2019/20.  These include: 

 

o Reducing the impact of domestic abuse on children, young people and 
adults at risk. 

o Improve the way we communicate with our communities and partner 
agencies. 

o Ensure that the transition to the new regional footprint for safeguarding is 
managed effectively. 

 

 In the coming year the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub will implement a 
joint consistent approach to business support across both Merthyr Tydfil and RCT local 
authorities.  It is envisaged that this will be further enhanced by a review of the information 
sharing systems to support MASH activity, which is being led by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.  There will a continuation of training and awareness raising activities to improve 
staff engagement, via the MASH bulletin and bespoke training sessions.  Finally, the new Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding Board’s priority to address the impact of domestic abuse on people 
of all ages will be supported by the alignment of MASH and MARAC functions, to include the 
development/improvement of performance management frameworks for both areas. 

 

 In addition to this, children’s services will ensure an effective interface between MASH and the 
Early Help Hub which will allow us to offer information, advice and assistance to more   families 
who may benefit from early help services 

 
 
Safeguarding is not just seen as a priority for Cwm Taf Morgannwg.  Safeguarding is also a key 
priority across all Social Services Plans and the Council’s plan for wellbeing (Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our Community).  A copy of the Council’s ‘Statement of Wellbeing’ and ‘Wellbeing Plan’ 
can be found in the ‘Strategies, Plans and Policies’ section of our website (www.merthyr.gov.uk). 
 

Progress and priorities for 2019/20 will directly and indirectly contribute to delivery of all  
Wellbeing Objectives – in particular:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to be 
successful learners and confident individuals  
 
Living Well 

DID YOU KNOW…? 

During the year concerned people sent reports about 539 people to Adult Services 
safeguarding. This is from all agencies including the Police. During the year 182 people were 
seen as part of formal adult protection enquiries. During this time 17 non-criminal 
investigations were concluded 

 

Page 48

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


 23 

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 

 
Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and 
participate in society 
 

What did we plan to do last year? 
 
Last year we said we would:   

 Implement a draft work plan and engage with children and young people to ensure they are 
involved in the work that we do and able to reflect their concerns more extensively.   

 Following further consultation with stakeholders; we will develop and implement our plan for 
improving the Information, Advice and Assistance Service for children, young people and their 
parents or carers.  

 Agree and start to implement our future model for Day Services provision across learning 
disability day services and for people with dementia.  We intend to achieve this through 
implementation of the Learning Disability Statement of Commissioning Intent and the Valleys 
Life Initiative. 

 The Valley LIFE project aims to deliver Local Integrated services for the Frail and Elderly, in 
particular those with early to progressive dementia.  Valley LIFE aims to build a new dynamic 
Health and Wellbeing Hub for older people with cognitive and memory problems on the Keir 
Hardie Health Park site. 

 

DID YOU KNOW…? 

During the year, Children’s Services staff have worked hard to safeguard children and this is 
reflected in the increase in the number of children who are looked after from 156 last year to 
198 at 31.3.19. 
 
Staff are working hard to prevent drift and delay within the looked after system also and this 
can be seen in the increase in special guardianship arrangements where a relative cares for a 
child with support from 111 last year to 127 this year. 
 
It is noticeable the increase of kinship foster placements from 23 last year to 38 at 31.3.19 
and in the number of cases where we have a Placement Order (adoption) from 7  last year to 
16 at 31.3.19. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 49



 24 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?  
 

 Our looked after Children’s Education team (LACES) has worked with schools and foster carers  
to make sure that ensure that all children and young people in care have access to a good 
quality, appropriate education and the necessary support to fulfil their potential.  Arranged in a 
cluster model, there is an allocated LACES officer for each Merthyr Tydfil CLA pupil.  A key 
function of the team is to monitor and review the progress of CLA in conjunction with schools, 
social workers and foster carers, supporting and challenging when necessary.  The team is able 
to offer a range of well-being, transitional and academic interventions and their training includes 
Trauma Informed Schools, Emotion Coaching, ELSA, SAP and Lego therapy.  The team is 
responsible for delivering training to schools to ensure that they are working in a CLA Friendly 
model, this includes attachment awareness training, CLA Friendly Schools training and Trauma 
Informed Schools training. 

 Through our work with Voices from Care, Merthyr Tydfil looked after young people have 
contributed to research called Listen Act Thrive which highlights the need for more support for 
looked after young people and care leavers to improve their emotional well-being and mental 
health. 

 Two Care experienced looked after young people have joined the Merthyr Tydfil youth cabinet  

 A Merthyr Tydfil care experience young person supported democratic services in a recent by-
election. 

 The Pathway to Work for care experienced young people has been concluded. 

 We have continued to work with our partners to improve day service provision and have 
commissioned Dementia Care Matters to support the implementation of the model in our 
services that support people with dementia.  We have supported Day service staff to attend the 
Leadership in Dementia Care Matters (DCM) training and offered opportunities for a range of 
staff including care management, day service and health staff to attend a DCM conference held 
in January 2019.  

 We have continued to work towards developing the Valley LIFE project however we have 
needed to revisit our plans as the site that we had identified on which to build the proposed 
Wellbeing Hub was not suitable and we are continuing to work with partners to explore 
alternatives.  

 

What are our priorities for next year and why? 
 

In 2019/20 it is our intention to: 

 Develop support to schools to ensure that they are working in a Looked after Friendly model, 
this includes attachment awareness training, Looked After Friendly Schools training and Trauma 
Informed Schools training. 

 Support Merthyr Forum members’ links to the youth Cabinet. 

 Implement the Pathway to work with a view to increasing the number of care experienced 
young people who are in education, employment or training. 

 Continue to develop the Valley LIFE project to improve services for people with dementia. 

 Continue to work with partners to implement the actions identified in the Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
Dementia Care Strategy, which includes supporting more Dementia Friendly Communities. 

 

Progress and priorities for 2019/20 will contribute to the delivery of the following Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 

Page 50



 25 

Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 

Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy 
domestic, family and personal relationships 
 
We are committed to ensuring that children and young people can have the best start in life.  We do 
recognise that some families need support from us and our partners to support families to remain 
together in a healthy domestic environment.  We also know that on occasion we must intervene 
where issues arise when it is in the best interest of children to do so. 
 

What did we plan to do last year?   
 
Last year we said we would:   

 Develop the Valley life initiative to redesign services for people with dementia. 

 Progress the recommendations of the regional report for carers. 

 Continue work aimed at preventing placement breakdown and improving outcomes under the 
Strategy for Success Stability and Transition for looked after young people and care leavers. 

 
 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make? 
 

 Our early help services have continues to support families to improve their circumstances and 
better relationships is key to that. During this year the number of vulnerable and looked after 
children and young people who have accessed therapeutic services has increased.  

 We have also been busy finalising the regional Multi-agency Permanence Placement Service 
which will be established during 19/20 and will provide a pathway of support to carers and young 
people seeking to meet their emotional well-being with a view to preventing worsening 
emotional and behavioral problems and changes in placement. The same service will provide 
consultation and support to foster carers whose work in improving the emotional well-being of 
looked after young people is transformational in the way it changes lives.   

 We have continued to work with our partners to develop the Valley Life Initiative to improve 
services for people with a dementia and will continue to work towards the implementation 
throughout 19/20. 

 We have undertaken some of the recommendations of the carers report and will continue to 
develop services for carers. 

 

What are our priorities for next year and why? 
 
 Establish the regional multi-agency permanence support service. 

Page 51



 26 

 Progress the recommendations of the regional report for carers. 

 Continue work aimed at preventing placement breakdown and improving outcomes under the 
Strategy for Success Stability and Transition for looked after young people and care leavers. 

 Continue to work with partners to develop the Valley Life work. 
 
 

Progress and priorities for 2019/20 will contribute to the delivery of the following Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 

 

 
Working with and supporting people to achieve greater 
economic well-being, have a social life and live in suitable 
accommodation that meets their needs 
 
As part of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health and Social Care Partnership we emphasise prevention, 
early intervention and the promotion of independence.  We want to bring down the demand for 
long term managed care including care home placements.  We will place a continued emphasis on 
meeting people’s needs in peoples own homes and extra care housing facilities and we expect that 
this will reduce the demand for placements in residential care homes significantly. 
 

We recognise that individuals may still choose to move to a residential care home.  Where 
appropriate we will meet older people’s nursing care needs in the community.  However, we expect 
there will continue to be a significant need for places in nursing homes including (and especially) for 
people with dementia and other mental health problems. 
 

Generally, we will continue to regard care homes as an important part of the range of services that 
are available to people and communities.  We expect to commission significantly fewer residential 
care home placements over the next 15 years. 
 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
Last year we said we would:   

 Roll out the use of Cost Calculator and associated pricing policy across the Supporting People 
floating support services within Merthyr Tydfil.  The process establishes a clear and transparent 
way to fund Supporting People services ensuring parity and transparency.  It also ensures that 
what is being provided is of high quality and is delivering meaningful housing related support for 
citizens of Merthyr Tydfil.  This implementation has enabled efficiency savings to be realised for 
investment in other areas of strategic relevance to better meet the needs of our community.  It is 

Page 52



 27 

the team’s intention to implement the pricing policy work across static schemes over the next 18 
months.  

 The 2018 Cwm Taf Regional Strategic Plan set out the future strategic aims and priorities for the 
Regional Collaborative Committee.  The current plan is an update of the three year Regional 
Strategic Plan (2017-2021). The Strategic Plan details the needs of service users identified in the 
region, the wider national policies that need to be incorporated into service provision as well as 
the priorities the RCC have adopted for the forthcoming financial year.  These include regional 
commissioning, consultation and participation in the full-flexibility pathfinder pilot scheme.  The 
strategic plan includes the most recent outcomes analysis, details of services which have been 
newly commissioned, remodeled or decommissioned and a regional spend plan. 

 Improve the arrangements across the council for transition planning, ensuring that early 
identification maximises opportunities to prevent homelessness, enhance planning and stability 
and improve outcomes. 

 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?  
 

 We have now agreed and implemented a new Joint Care Home Contract across the Cwm Taf 
region with the care home providers. The revised contract places greater emphasis on meeting 
peoples Wellbeing Outcomes and the requirements of the new Regulation & Inspection 
legislation.  We have also implemented a pooled budget for these care homes across the region. 

 We have submitted the necessary information to CIW to register our own homes under the new 
regulations and are awaiting the outcome of this. 

 We have worked with Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) Local Authority, Cwm Taf Morgannwg University 
Health Board (CTUHB) and providers to revise the contract for Care and Nursing homes and are 
hoping to complete this in 2018/19.  As part of this work we have now developed a pooled 
budget with RCT and CTUHB in line with the expectation of the Social Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act 2014. 

 During the year staff across the council have concluded the Pathway to work and developed links 
that will make Council apprenticeship available for looked after young people. 

 The Placement Commissioning Strategy has revealed a pressing need for us to develop suitable  
supported accommodation options for care leavers  

 
We have attempted to increase foster carers available to children in Merthyr Tydfil.  However we 
have managed to recruit new carers following a successful advertising campaign but some carers 
have retired and numbers remain the same.  This will be an area we need to continue to address in 
the future.  
 

Standard Yes Sometimes No Don’t know 

Adults reporting that they live in the right 
home for them. 

172 14 12 18 

Children and young people reporting that 
they are happy with whom they live with. 

83 4 2 4 

People reporting they have received care 
and support through their language of 
choice. 

311 2 16 23 

Young adults (aged 16-17) reporting they 
received advice, help and support to 
prepare them for adulthood. 

6 2 1 4 

People reporting, they chose to live in a 36 0 14 166 

Page 53



 28 

 

 

What are our priorities for next year? 
 
In 2019/20 it is our intention to: 

 Increase the number of care leavers who are in education employment or training. 

 Increase the supply of suitable supported accommodation that is available for care leavers. 

 Continue to work with our housing colleagues to progress the identification and the 
development of a range of accommodation services to meet the needs of Older People and 
People with a Learning Disability. 

 Undertake a consultation with service users and their families in respect of moving our learning 
disability long term and respite service to an alternative building. 

 

Progress and priorities for 2019/20 will contribute to delivery of the following Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 
 

residential care home. 

DID YOU KNOW…? 

We listened to the views of care leavers and have re-written the details of our personal 
adviser service for care leavers. Here are some of the things that they told us were the 
most important: 
 

 Take time to get to know us for who we really are; speak to us like young adults  

 Involve us in new experiences 

 Keep in touch more when I need extra help 

 Believe in us and fight our corner 

 When talking to us keep it real, be straight forward and say things as they are 

 Understand that because of our experiences, we need second chances; we don’t 

always have family and friends we can call on 

 Check out how the services is going once in a while with care leavers, involve us in 

service developments 
 

 

Page 54



 29 

 
 

 

Our Workforce and How We Support their Professional 
Roles 
  
Supporting our workforce is fundamental to delivering good quality care to those in Merthyr Tydfil 
who need our help. The shared Cwm Taf workforce development service has been operational for 3 
years. The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Plan continues to improve the quality and 
management of social services provision through a planned approach to learning, development and 
qualifications to increase the take-up of learning and development across the care sector. Last year 
we set out and met the following objectives: 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
Last year we said we would:   

 Continue the implementation of the Regulation and Inspection of Social (Wales) Act including:  
o Supporting the domiciliary care workforce to prepare for registration and supporting 

knowledge/role of responsible individuals.   

 Support the training, development and qualification of social care managers: including Step Up to 
Management; Middle Manager Development Programme; Team Manager Development 
Programme; and those requiring registration as managers. 

 Ongoing development of approaches to outcome focused care and support practice. 

 Support for both Social Work qualifying training and post qualifying training in Wales. 

 Enable frontline social care workers to develop their skills overall in relation to social care, and 
support introduction of the revised induction framework from April 2018. 

 Enable the workforce to meet regulatory requirements for qualification and/or registration using 
guidance available in the Qualification Framework. 

 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make? 

 

 During the year we continued to develop our workforce. 

 We have supported a Social Worker to complete their consolidation. 

 We have supported two Social Workers to undertake the Best Interest Assessment training. 

 We have identified 2 staff members that will be sponsored on the OU Social Work Degree 
programme commencing October 18 and January 19. 

 We have continued to sponsor 4 Social Work students in total, across years 2 and 3 of study. 

 We have continued to provide Practice Placement opportunities for Social Work students in 
Merthyr Tydfil across years 2 and 3. 

 We have seen the success of the sponsorship and hosting of placements resulting in a number of 
the students being successful for employment in Merthyr Tydfil when qualified – ‘growing our 
own’ model. 

 As part of our Post Qualifying Training arrangements opportunities have been available for 
qualified Social workers to undertake their mandatory consolidation programme within the first 
three years of practice. 

 Other opportunities for development have included: 
o Enabling Practice – for Practice Assessment. 

Section 5:   How we do what we do 

Page 55

http://www.ccwales.org.uk/qualification-framework/


 30 

o Continuing Professional Education & Learning. 
o Team Managers Development Programme. 
o Middle Management Development Programme. 

 

 Training programmes have been continually updated to ensure the principles of the Social 
Services and Wellbeing Act are embedded within the content. This has included extending the 
safeguarding program to include training in respect of Adverse Childhood Experiences and 
Violence Against Women Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence 

 

 Registered Managers in adult social care services are starting to make considerations about how 
‘wellbeing’ needs to be central to the care that they are delivering.  However, this represents a 
significant cultural shift and more work is needed to re-focus the workforce away from the 
delivery of physical task based care. 

 

 When undertaking the Award in Social Care Induction, new staff are expected to demonstrate an 
awareness of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014.  This is formally assessed as 
part of the qualification. Registered Managers in the care homes are mandating that all new staff 
undertake this qualification as a quality benchmark 

 

 There has been focused attention in respect of supporting adult care home managers to learn 
about tools that measure quality of life. 

 

 Two cohorts of outcome focused care and support planning training were commissioned by 
Dementia Care Matters, a cutting edge change management consultancy.  DCM specialise in the 
use of outcome focused tools in dementia care for leadership and quality assurance purposes.  
36 places were made available and accepted.  31 managers completed the required 5 day 
attendance.  Further development work is required to check that skills learned are used and 
embedded at a practical day to day level.  Cwm Taf supported a DCM Disrupting Dementia Care 
conference in January 2019 that was well attended by the sector.  23 workers attended from a 
range of agencies and service in Merthyr Tydfil. 

 
 

What are our priorities for next year? 

 
In 2019/20 it is our intention to: 
 

 There will be collaborative arrangements with Bridgend CBC throughout 2019/20. 

 The priorities for workforce development remain similar to last year and are outlined below: 

o Continue the implementation of the Regulation and Inspection of Social (Wales) Act 
including:  

o Supporting the domiciliary care workforce to prepare for registration and supporting 
knowledge/role of responsible individuals.   

o Support the training, development and qualification of social care managers: including Step 
Up to Management; Middle Manager Development Programme; Team Manager 
Development Programme; and those requiring registration as managers. 

 Ongoing development of approaches to outcome focused care and support practice. 

 Support for both Social Work qualifying training and post qualifying training in Wales. 

 Enable frontline social care workers to develop their skills overall in relation to social care, and 
support introduction of the revised induction framework that was implemented in April 2018. 

Page 56



 31 

 Enable the workforce to meet regulatory requirements for qualification and/or registration using 
guidance available in the Qualification Framework. This will include implementation of the new 
qualifications at Levels 2 and 3. 

 Rollout of Carers E-learning programme and carers assessment training programme. 
 
Additional priorities include: 

 Continuation of the Attraction, Recruitment and Retention project across the region and to work 
closely with Social Care Wales on their national campaign. 

 To coordinate a regional registered manager’s forum across all three Local Authorities. 

 Work with Community Occupational Therapists to plan learning and development needs in 
accordance with their learning and development framework. 

 Develop and deliver a learning and development plan with IAA services across the three Local 
Authorities. 

 Jointly plan to deliver a specialist mental health programme for approved AMHPs. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DID YOU KNOW…? 

When Care Inspectorate Wales provided their inspection report in addition to highlighting 
some areas for development, they wrote that:  
 
Overall, services were delivered by a competent well qualified work force who were committed 
to achieving good outcomes for children and families. Despite financial and resource pressures, 
teams were focused on the stability, safety and well-being of looked after children, care 
leavers and their families 

 

Page 57

http://www.ccwales.org.uk/qualification-framework/


 32 

 
Our Financial Resources and How We Plan For the Future 
 
During 2018/19 we have continued to face financial pressures.  We have been working hard to 
achieve the savings the Council needs, whilst doing our best to ensure that the services we provide 
to you are not adversely affected.  
 
During 2018/19 Children’ services responded to increased demand for children needing to be 
safeguarded by being looked after.  There was also a need to provide more intensive support to a 
smaller number of looked after young people whose needs increase.  This led to additional care costs 
which the Council has supported in line with its duty to safeguard and provide suitable care and 
support for looked after young people. As a result of extra demands on the service an additional £3.4 
million was required for 2019/20 primarily due to an increase in Residential Placements for Children 
and young people, an increase in foster placements and use of independent providers and an 
increase in domiciliary care services as the ‘winter pressures’ was seen throughout Spring and 
Summer too.  
 
Wherever possible we have been utilising available funding streams to develop and enhance 
services.  We have continued to use the Integrated Care Fund over the past year to support projects 
working across the region which will directly impact on the public and provide better services.  This 
included the Stay Well @ Home Service that were finalist in the Social Care Accolades and were 
successful in winning  the category of “Working Seamlessly Across Organizations” and “Outstanding 
contribution to Prudent Health” Care at the Health Care Awards. 
 
The now established Tackling Poverty Strategic Group has oversight of the anti – poverty grants and 
has undertaken a review of the Families First commissioning plan and agreed the strategic direction 
of the Legacy arrangements post Communities First.  This approach has seen greater investment in 
key priorities such as Early language Development and Parenting.  The approach has also enabled 
funding to be united under a single contract  across these areas and in conjunction with  core 
funding for services including bringing together school based counselling and community 
counselling.  
 
This approach continues to be developed through both the funding flexibility remit from Welsh 
government and now the 2 new grants for 2019/20 of Childcare and Communities and the Housing 
Support Grant.  
 
A lot of our work is undertaken on a collaborative and regional basis which assists with cost 
pressures and assists with resilience of services. 
 

Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate 
Leadership, Governance and Accountability 
 
On 13th December 2017, Welsh Government commenced a consultation entitled ‘Effective 
partnership Working in Bridgend, Proposed Health Board Boundary Change to align decision making 
across Health and local Government’. The consultation closed on the 7th March 2018.  The 
consultation sought views on a proposal that healthcare services for people in the area of Bridgend 
County Borough Council should be provided by Cwm Taf Universality health Board. In June 2018 

Page 58



 33 

Vaughan Gething, Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social services confirmed that following 
consultation,…’ the Health Board boundary should be changed in accordance with the proposals’. 
This Boundary change took effect from the 1st April 2019. As a result of this we have been working in 
partnership with Bridgend Social Services Department for the past year. As from 1st April 2019 the 
Local Authority and Health services in Bridgend will formally move from the Western Bay region to 
the Cwm Taf regional partnership arrangements. The new Partnership Board will be the Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Regional Partnership Board. A partnership workstream commenced looking at all areas 
that would be impacted by these changes and Bridgend colleagues have attended the various 
regional meetings in that past year to provide information about their services and to learn about 
the service we provide. Some may be similar, some different but we can learn from each other.   
 
Regional partnership working across Cwm Taf including Cwm Taf University Health Board, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council and the third sector has remained strong.  Whether it’s planning 
our workforce needs and training requirements, integrating our service provision or responding to 
region wide challenges, we are doing more collectively to deliver better services. Moving forward in 
2019/20 we will be known as Cwm Taf Morgannwg, as Bridgend will become a formal partner also. 
This year has been a transitional year for regional working and we are looking at further ways to 
integrate and develop service with Bridgend, for example, the development of the Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Safeguarding Board-a joint development day was held in January 2019 in respect of this 
and it has been identified as one of the priorities of the Board moving forward for 2019/10.  
 
The Council continues to provide strong leadership and support to staff at all levels, giving direction, 
undertaking scrutiny and considering how social services contribute to the promotion of wellbeing.  
Reports are presented regularly to the Scrutiny Committee and to Cabinet updating members on 
progress, how the financial and demographic challenges are being tackled and how the Council is 
transforming services with its partners. 
 
The regional working through the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Board identified a range of 
priorities for us to deliver and over the past year the partnership has overseen and delivered the 
following work:  
 

 Commitment to a multi-agency placement support service. 

 Development of a partnership early help bid aimed at improving emotional well-being. 

 The development of a common Contract and Service specification for Care Homes across the 
region. 

 Implemented a pooled budget for care home placements. 

 Commenced work under the Transformation Fund Initiative to re-configure community services 
to support cluster developments and mechanisms for accessing community services earlier in the 
pathway for people likely to move to crisis. 

 We have appointed a regional commissioning manager and are in the process of appointing a 
regional commissioning team to support the regional developments. 

 We have commenced discussions with Bridgend CBC in preparation for the revised regional 
boundary changes. 

 The Membership of the Regional Wellbeing Partnership Board has been realigned to reflect the 
forthcoming boundary changes and revision of the guidance on membership issued by Welsh 
Government. 

 Undertaken a regional; workshop to identify the priorities for the Regional Partnership for 2019-
20. 

 

Page 59



 34 

In addition to carrying out the core statutory safeguarding functions, the Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
Safeguarding Board has agreed a number of key priorities for improvement for the coming year.  
These are specific areas that will enhance and support the Board in achieving its objectives and are 
as follows:  
  

 Reduce the impact of domestic abuse on children, young people and adults at risk. 

 Improve the way we communicate with our communities and partner agencies. 

 Ensure that the transition to the new regional footprint for safeguarding is managed effectively. 
  
A detailed work plan for the Board and its sub groups will sit underneath this strategic Annual Plan.  
The work plan will include the actions required to achieve the improvements required, who is 
responsible, timescales and measures of success.  The progress of the work plan will be monitored 
and reviewed on a quarterly basis and will form the basis of the Annual Report for 2019/2020. 
 
The Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board published the Regional Plan on 1st April 2018.   
This was followed by facilitated discussions which focused on six key areas which reflected the 
overarching themes of the 2017 Population Assessment: 
 

 Getting information, advice and assistance; 

 Stopping problems before they start; 

 Stopping problems before they get worse; 

 Connecting you to your community; 

 Seamless services; and 

 Making it personal and working together with you. 
 

The information gathered at each of the events provided a rich source of information to inform the 
development of the Regional Plan.  It was felt that the priorities and issues identified were broadly 
the right ones.  Running through all three events was the importance of communication, the need 
for good quality information and the value of community assets.   
 
The Plan has been shared with colleagues in Bridgend and likewise their priorities have been shared 
within the Cwm Taf region. A workshop took place in February 2019 with colleagues across the new 
region in attendance from Local Authorities, health and the third sector with a view to looking at: 
 

 Common needs; high level priorities; any differences. 

 To capture aspirations and ambitions or the new Board and to form its vision for the future. 

 To identify and agree the broad principles for the operation of the new partnership. 

 To identify how the board should operate to ensure good governance, accountability and 
supporting structures, drawing on participant’s experiences to date of what works well and 
what could be refined. 

 To consider how the board can address issues relating to co-production, including the ‘citizen 
voice’ and ‘social value’ 

 
It was clear from this workshop that everyone is invested in working together and making the new 
Regional Partnership Board a success. There was a strong desire or the board to be successful and to 
make a positive difference to people’s lives by improving and, where necessary transforming the way 
services are delivered, and to be able to evidence this. Engaging with people, listening to what they 
want including ‘what matters’ conversations, and acting accordingly are seen as vital to the Board’s 
success.  
 

Page 60



 35 

Additionally there is the Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB), which is a merged Public Service Board 
covering the areas of Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf.  The PSB aims to act as the principal 
strategic leadership forum for the planning, commissioning and delivery of public services across 
organisational boundaries to achieve better outcomes for the people of Cwm Taf.  It will seek to 
understand the major issues faced by each partner organisation, to become a more transparent 
Board through publishing data and performance and will move from a reactive to a preventative 
agenda.  Further information about the work of the PSB can be found on its website 
(www.ourcwmtaf.wales).   
 
The ‘Our Cwm Taf Morgannwg’ website brings together the partnership work of the Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Public Services Board. It offers partners and citizens opportunities to engage with and 
further understand the key role of the board as it develops. Our Cwm Taf Morgannwg also contains a 
wealth of information about the region. Currently Bridgend has its own PSB but there are discussions 
taking place about whether there will be one or two PSB’s in future, there is still work to be 
completed in this area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


 36 

 
 
 
 
 
A consultation with the public, service users and stakeholders was held between 3rd June 2019 to 
17th June 2019. The purpose of the consultation was to gain your views on the report and get 
feedback. A survey was produced which was sent to various groups, with information being sent via 
social media channels and on the Corporate website. Two drop in sessions in the Civic Centre were 
also held on 6th June 2019 and 14th June 2019. 
 
There were 17 responses received in total. 13 of these reponses were from people, or someone 
being cared for, receiving a service now or in the past from Social Services.  
 
We have listened to your responses and take on board your feedback. 
 
 

Things that you raised and priorities going forward 
 
The report is quite lengthy and the style is not friendly or helpful. It could include more images as 
well as text to make it more readable. We will look at making changes to the report for next year. 
 

‘The report doesn’t reflect some of the bad experiences some people receive’. 
 

‘The report focuses on groups of people and sectors of society and seems to ignore the individuals 
who don’t fall into these classifications’. 

 
‘It is a long read but is very informative. It was interesting to see what has been done and what 

will be done next year’. 
 

You want more transparency, to be listened to and improvements made regarding communication. 
 

‘A section on improved communication between the public and social services’. 
 
You want us to ensure that your needs are met and calls are answered in a timely manner, and social 
workers are open and honest in their work.  
 

‘Making the system easier for service users and keep in contact with people’. 
 
Concerns were raised about the financial pressures and cuts to services and how this would impact 
Social Services now and in the future. 
 

‘Priority should be providing care services to meet the needs, not budget protecting to the 
detriment of service users’. 

 
Concerns were raised about the waiting times to be seen and in between visits. 
 

‘Happy and friendly service. Only issue is waiting times to see or be seen between visits’. 
 
 

Section 6:   Consultation 

Page 62



 37 

 
 
The table below shows the reponses regarding the Annual report document; 
 

Overall, was the Annual report document:  

  Yes Somewhat No N/A 
Response 

Total 

Of interest 
23.5% 

(4) 
47.1% 

(8) 
29.4% 

(5) 
0.0% 
(0) 

17 

Clear and easy to understand 
35.3% 

(6) 
29.4% 

(5) 
23.5% 

(4) 
11.8% 

(2) 
17 

Informative 
35.3% 

(6) 
29.4% 

(5) 
23.5% 

(4) 
11.8% 

(2) 
17 

What you expected 
41.2% 

(7) 
17.6% 

(3) 
35.3% 

(6) 
5.9% 
(1) 

17 

 

answered 17 

skipped 0 

 
 
 
We would like to thank everyone who participated in the consultation. We value your feedback and 
will make sure that we address the issues identified. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 38 

 
This report has been written to give an overview of the success of the Council in delivering effective 
services, and we have used a lot of information, data, reports, surveys etc. to demonstrate what we 
have done.  
 
This report is not the only source of information available to members of the public, key partners 
and service providers.  We have a significant amount of background information that sits behind this 
report and that provides a lot of additional detail about what we do and how we do it.  Importantly if 
something is not mentioned in this report as a key priority it doesn’t mean we’re not doing it, as 
there is a lot of activity across social services that play a part in helping us to provide for some of the 
most vulnerable groups in our community. 
 
The following are just some of the documents that set out what we do in Social Services, as a Council 
and in partnership with others; why we are doing it; what we are doing well and what we need to 
improve on.  Some of these documents can be found in the ‘Strategies, Plans and Policies’ section of 
our website (www.merthyr.gov.uk). 
 

 The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Population Needs Assessment (www.ourcwmtaf.wales) 

 The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Wellbeing Assessment (www.ourcwmtaf.wales) 

 Statement of Wellbeing 2019/20 update  

 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community 2017 to 2022 (2019/20 update) 

 Wellbeing and Service Strategies 

 Departmental and Social Services Scrutiny Committee reports 

 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) reports (www.careinspectorate.wales) 
 

Getting in Touch 
 
You can contact us in the following ways: 
  

Email:   ACRF@merthyr.gov.uk   
 
Write to:  Annual Council Reporting Framework 
   Social Services Department 
   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
   Unit 5, Triangle Business Park 
   Pentrebach 
   Merthyr Tydfil 
   CF48 4TQ 
 

Section 7:   Further information and key documents 

Page 64

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/
http://www.careinspectorate.wales/
mailto:ACRF@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Inspection of Community Mental Health Team 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report outlines the outcome of the Joint Inspection by Health Inspectorate Wales 

(HIW) and Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW). The findings of the inspection are 
contained within the body of the inspection report (Appendix 1) as opposed to being 
re-written in this report. 

1.2 The accompanying action plan (Appendix 2) sets out the actions and timescales in 
response to the inspection 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That scrutiny consider and comment on the content of the report and the action plan 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In line with the Scrutiny forward plan this report provides an update in respect of the 

inspection of the joint Community Mental Health Team that was undertaken by Care 
Inspectorate Wales and Health Inspectorate Wales over a 2 day period in March 
2019. 

 
3.2 The inspection team, for the inspection comprised of one HIW inspector, two clinical 

peer reviewers (one of whom was the nominated Mental Health Act reviewer) and 
one Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) inspector. The inspection was led by a HIW 
inspection manager.  

Date Written 24th June 2019 

Report Author Angela Edevane 

Service Area Adult Social Care 

Committee Date 9th July 2019 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



3.3 During this inspection, they reviewed documentation for patients detained under the 
Mental Health Act 1983 in order to assess compliance with the Act. 

 
3.4 HIW and CIW explored how the service met the Health and Care Standards (2015) 

and the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. HIW also consider how 
services comply with the Mental Health Act 1983, Mental Health Measure (2010), 
Mental Capacity Act (2005). 

 
3.5 Initial feedback was provided verbally at the end of the inspection and a formal report 

was provided at a later date and embargoed until the 7th June 2019 (Appendix 1). 
 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 The arrangements for a joint Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) has been in 

place for a number of years that is sited at Keir Hardie Health Park and consists of a 
range of Health and Social Care staff that includes: 

 Team Leader (Local Authority) 

 Team Leader (Health) 

 Two Consultant Psychiatrists 

 One speciality doctor 

 Six Community Psychiatric Nurses (CPN) 

 One Occupational Therapist 

 Six Social Workers 

 One Healthcare Support Worker 

 One Psychologist 

 One Assistant Psychologist 

 One Trainee Psychologist 
 

4.2 The CMHT receives referrals for secondary mental health support from professionals 
and general public, in line with the Mental Health Measure and lower level support is 
delivered via primary care. 

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The feedback provided by the inspectors at the end of the inspection was extremely 

positive and outlined many positive aspects of the service including how the team 
works collaboratively to deliver positive outcomes for the people who use the 
service. 

 
5.2 The initial feedback was confirmed in the formal report and there were no areas 

identified as requiring immediate improvement. 
 
5.3 The key area for improvement was associated with the IT systems and the need 

rationalise the current systems to improve access to information. 
 

5.4 There was opportunity to comment on factual accuracies and these will appear in the 
final report but do not have significant impact on the outcomes of the report. 
 

 

Page 66



5.5 The key areas for improvement were: 

 The service must ensure care and treatment plans are consistently signed by 
service users and care-coordinators to demonstrate the plan has been agreed.  

 The health board must ensure that staff are able to access and complete 
safeguarding training.  

 The health board must consider how they can facilitate better engagement and 
understanding between GPs and the CMHT.  

 The health board must ensure staff are compliant with mandatory training.  

 The health board must provide HIW with the actions and progress on addressing 
the long standing issues with the IT system, including ensuring the Crisis team 
have access to the CMHT records.  

 
5.6 These areas have been included in an action plan has been developed in response 

to the inspection report (Appendix 2) 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 We would wish to build on the positive working arrangements that are already in 

place. 
 
6.2 Improve services delivered to individuals. 

  

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 We will jointly implement the action plan within the timescales indicated within the 

plan. 
 

7.2 In addition to this we have been working with CTM to review how mental health 
services are delivered across the pathway and to consider how they can be 
delivered more effectively. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 This relates to the living well objective and Social Services & Wellbeing Act. 

 
 
LISA CURTIS-JONES – DIRECTOR of 
SOCIAL SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
CABINET MEMBER SOCIAL SERVICES 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

       

 

HIW & CIW: Joint Community Mental 

Health Team Inspection (Announced) 

Merthyr Tydfil Community Mental Health Team, Cwm 

Taf Morgannwg University Health Board 

 

Inspection date: 5 and 6 March 2019 

Publication date: 7 June 2019 

 

 

EMBARGOED UNTIL PUBLICATION 

Page 69



 

 

This publication and other HIW information can be provided in alternative formats or 

languages on request. There will be a short delay as alternative languages and 

formats are produced when requested to meet individual needs. Please contact us 

for assistance. 

Copies of all reports, when published, will be available on our website or by 

contacting us:  

 

In writing: 

Communications Manager 

Healthcare Inspectorate Wales  
Welsh Government 

Rhydycar Business Park 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 1UZ 

Or via 

Phone: 0300 062 8163 

Email: hiw@gov.wales  

Website:  www.hiw.org.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Digital ISBN XX 

© Crown copyright 2019  

Page 70

mailto:hiw@gov.wales
http://www.hiw.org.uk/


 

 

Contents 

1. What we did ....................................................................................................... 6 

2. Summary of our inspection ................................................................................ 7 

3. What we found ................................................................................................... 9 

Quality of patient experience .......................................................................... 10 

Delivery of safe and effective care ................................................................. 15 

Quality of management and leadership .......................................................... 20 

4. What next? ....................................................................................................... 23 

5. How we inspect community mental health teams............................................. 24 

Appendix A – Summary of concerns resolved during the inspection .............. 25 

Appendix B – Immediate improvement plan ................................................... 26 

Appendix C – Improvement plan .................................................................... 27 

 

 

Page 71



 

Page 2 of 29 

HIW report template version 2 

 

Healthcare Inspectorate Wales (HIW) is the 
independent inspectorate and regulator of 
healthcare in Wales  

Our purpose  

To check that people in Wales receive good quality healthcare 

Our values  

We place patients at the heart of what we do. We are: 

 Independent  

 Objective  

 Caring  

 Collaborative  

 Authoritative 

Our priorities  

Through our work we aim to:  

Provide assurance: Provide an independent view on 

the quality of care 

Promote improvement: Encourage improvement 

through reporting and sharing of 

good practice 

Influence policy and standards: Use what we find to influence 

policy, standards and practice 

Page 72



 

Page 5 of 29 

  
Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

 

Our purpose  
 
To regulate, inspect and improve adult care, childcare and social 
services for people in Wales  

 

Our values  
 
Our Core values ensure people are at the heart of everything we do 
and aspire to be as an organisation.  

 

 Integrity: we are honest and trustworthy  

 

 Respect: we listen, value and support others  

 

 Caring: we are compassionate and approachable  

 

 Fair: we are consistent, impartial and inclusive  

 

Our strategic priorities  
 
We have identified four strategic priorities to provide us with our 
organisational direction the next three years. These are:  
 

 To consistently deliver a high quality service  

 

 To be highly skilled, capable and responsive  

 

 To be an expert voice to influence and drive improvement  

 

 To effectively implement legislation  

 

Page 73



 

Page 6 of 29 

1. What we did  

Healthcare Inspectorate Wales (HIW) and Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

completed a joint announced community mental health inspection (CMHT) of 

Merthyr Tydfil CMHT within Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board on 5 

and 6 March 2019.  

Our team, for the inspection comprised of one HIW inspector, two clinical peer 

reviewers (one of whom was the nominated Mental Health Act reviewer) and one 

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) inspector. The inspection was led by a HIW 

inspection manager.  

During this inspection, we reviewed documentation for patients detained under 

the Mental Health Act 1983 in order to assess compliance with the Act.   

HIW and CIW explored how the service met the Health and Care Standards 

(2015) and the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. HIW also 

consider how services comply with the Mental Health Act 1983, Mental Health 

Measure (2010), Mental Capacity Act (2005).  

Further details about how we conduct CMHT inspections can be found in Section 

5.  

Page 74



 

Page 7 of 29 

2. Summary of our inspection 

Overall, we found evidence that the service provided safe and 

effective care, but identified some areas where the service was not 

fully compliant with all Health and Care Standards (2015).  

Throughout this inspection, we have identified areas of noteworthy 

practice. It was particularly positive to find a truly integrated CMHT, 

with a team of health and social care staff who were supportive of 

each other and committed to improving the care of service users.  

We found care and treatment plans and statutory documentation for 

service users detained under the Mental Health Act to be detailed 

and completed to a high standard. Care was planned in a way that 

was person centred and responsive to the needs of service users. 

However, this good work was hampered by staff needing to work 

around issues with Information Technology (IT) systems, which 

present a risk to the care and safety of patients if the right 

information is not available to the right staff, at the right time, 

including the Crisis team.  

 

This is what we found the service did well: 

 Service user feedback was very positive and they were involved in their 

care and treatment 

 There was good access to the CMHT, including the acceptance and 

flexibility around self-referrals 

 Care was planned in a way that was person centred and responsive to 

the needs of service users 

 Care and treatment plans and statutory documentation for service 

users detained under the Mental Health Act were detailed and 

completed to a high standard 

 There was good management and leadership of the service 

Page 75



 

Page 8 of 29 

 The service was a good example of truly integrated working between 

health and social care staff. 

This is what we recommend the service could improve: 

 Compliance with mandatory training, including  safeguarding 

 Recording signatures of service users and care-coordinators on care 

and treatment plans to demonstrate their agreement 

 Better engagement and understanding between GPs and the CMHT  

 Progress and solutions to ensure the IT systems are fit for purpose and 

enable the right information to be available to the right staff, at the right 

time.   

Page 76



 

Page 9 of 29 

3. What we found 

Background of the service 

Merthyr Tydfil provides community mental health services at Keir Hardie Health 

Park, Merthyr Tydfil within Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board.  

The staff team includes two team leaders (one employed by the health board 

and one employed by the local authority), two consultant psychiatrists, one 

specialty doctor, one junior doctor, seven community psychiatric nurses (CPN), 

one occupational therapist, one occupational therapy assistant (vacant), seven 

social workers (including those acting as Approved Mental Health 

Practitioners), one senior social worker, three psychologists, one assistant 

psychologist, one trainee psychologist, two health care support workers, and an 

administrative team.  

 

Page 77



 

Page 10 of 29 

Quality of patient experience  

We spoke with patients, their relatives, representatives and/or 

advocates (where appropriate) to ensure that the patients’ 

perspective is at the centre of our approach to inspection. 

Patients we spoke with were positive about their care and support 

from CMHT and getting access to help if needed.  

Overall, it appears that care is provided in a timely way and the 

CMHT look to engage patients in groups and clinics whilst waiting 

to access therapies. 

We found there was good access to the CMHT service, including 

the acceptance and flexibility around self-referrals.  

During our inspection, we distributed HIW questionnaires to service users to 

obtain their views on the service provided. In total, we received 15 completed 

questionnaires. Service user feedback in the questionnaires was generally 

positive. Some service users said the support they have received has made a 

big difference to their lives. However, one service user said they felt they had 

been overlooked which made them feel frustrated. 

We also spoke with a small number of service users during the course of our 

inspection who were very positive about the communication and support they 

received from the CMHT.  

Care, engagement and advocacy 

We found evidence that service users receive appropriate care for their needs. 

The majority of service users who completed a questionnaire said the service 

provided by the CMHT ‘completely meets their needs’ or ‘meets most of their 

needs’. All service users who completed a questionnaire felt the CMHT had 

involved a member of their family, or someone close to them, as much as they 

would have liked. Two thirds of the service users who completed a questionnaire 

said they had been given information (including written) by their CMHT. 

All of the service users who completed a questionnaire said they knew how to 

contact their care-coordinator if they had a concern about their care. Almost all 

service users also said they felt staff usually gave them enough time to discuss 

their needs, treatment and listened to them carefully.  

Page 78



 

Page 11 of 29 

Two thirds of service users who completed a questionnaire said they had been 

offered the support of an advocate to potentially help them access information 

they may need, or to support them in situations where they didn’t feel able to 

speak for themselves. We saw advocacy services were available to service 

users, including independent mental health advocates which were typically 

provided through a mental health charity called Mind. We were also told that Mind 

can work as advocates for service users who need help with their finances and 

benefits. Staff also told us they can arrange for specific advocacy services to 

meet the needs of service users, such as those with learning disabilities.  

We found the CMHT had a system for service users to provide feedback on their 

experiences. We also saw the service had held a 'have your say day' with service 

users to gain understanding of their views. We saw the feedback from this 

workshop and staff gave examples of how they had considered and implemented 

changes as a result.  

Service users who completed a questionnaire were most likely to have their 

social and accommodation needs completely met by the services provided 

through the CMHT; service users were least likely to have their employment 

needs completely met by the services provided through the CMHT.  

Staff explained how the CMHT were involved in projects with third sector 

organisations to support service users in the community, including to help them 

with housing and to return to work. Staff told us that the CMHT have a dispersed 

housing scheme meeting twice a week. This is a project with Merthyr Tydfil 

housing association, to help service users move on from supported 

accommodation to maintain a tenancy of their own, with the aim of increasing 

their independence. One of the service users we spoke with had benefited from 

this housing project and told us of the positive difference this had made to their 

life and recovery. We saw this to be noteworthy practice.   

Access to services  

Of the service users who had completed a questionnaire, the time they had been 

in contact with the CMHT ranged from less than a year to more than 10 years. 

Most of these service users had last seen someone from the CMHT in the last 

month and found it easy to access support from the CMHT when they need it. 

They also said that when thinking about their own needs, they had been seen by 

the CMHT about the right amount of times. 

The majority of service users who completed a questionnaire had been referred 

to the CMHT by their GP. From the responses in the questionnaire, service users 

had either been seen straight away after their referral (less than a week), or it 

had taken longer to be seen by the CMHT after their referral (about four weeks 

or longer). 

Page 79



 

Page 12 of 29 

We found there was good access to the CMHT service. Referrals were dealt with 

in a timely manner with no unnecessary delay in addressing service users’ needs.  

Staff told us they receive referrals from a wide range of sources, including from 

other health or social care professionals, police and prisons. The CMHT also 

accepted self-referrals, including individuals who had previously been service 

users. We were also told the CMHT are flexible in their approach to people re-

referring back into the CMHT at any time.  

Following an initial referral into the CMHT, we were told cases were allocated 

within a week and individuals were seen for an assessment within the 

recommended guidelines of four weeks.   

Urgent referrals were dealt with by the duty team1, which was available Monday 

to Friday 9am to 5pm. Assessments, if needed, would be provided the same day 

by staff working duty. We found the duty team rota was shared between health 

and social service staff. Staff we spoke to said this system appeared to work well. 

Referrals that required an assessment under the Mental Health Act2 were passed 

to one of the Approved Mental Health Professionals3 (AMHP) for action. An 

AMHP rota was developed and maintained by the social services CMHT 

manager, who is also an AMHP, to ensure there is always someone available to 

carry out assessments. Staff said they felt well supported in their role as an 

AMHP and benefitted from a high level of peer support. Staff also said they were 

supported by the CMHT leader to perform this role.  

The CMHT has a weekly single point of entry multidisciplinary team meeting, with 

both health and social care staff, where new and existing cases are discussed. 

We were told the focus of this meeting is to match the needs of service users to 

a practitioner with the most appropriate skills and interest. Staff told us they would 

prioritise service users with high needs and those currently inpatients within the 

                                            

 

 

1 Members of the CMHT allocated on a rota basis to providing advice to service users and 

professionals in need of secondary mental health support, assessing service user referrals and 

conducting urgent service user assessments. 

2 https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/nhs-services/mental-health-services/mental-health-act/ 

3 The role of the AMHP is to coordinate the assessment of an individual who is being considered 

for assessment under the Mental Health Act 1983. 

Page 80

https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/nhs-services/mental-health-services/mental-health-act/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mental_Health_Act_1983


 

Page 13 of 29 

mental health unit. It was positive to hear from a range of staff that this meeting 

was effective and their respective skills and input was valued and supported. 

Staff explained that any referrals received after this would be screened and 

assessed daily by the CMHT. Staff also said the CMHT had developed an internal 

triage process to make sure that appropriate referrals were made to different 

parts of the service. We saw this as noteworthy practice.  

The service was able to demonstrate that they signposted individuals to other 

services, such as, third sector organisations, where their needs would be more 

appropriately met. We found the CMHT has regular meetings with the police and 

other agencies, such as the ambulance service and third sector. The meetings 

are held to discuss people they are frequently in contact with and how they can 

best manage peoples’ individualised risks through a multi-agency approach. This 

helps to prevent inappropriate referrals into services and police reporting. 

We found the CMHT has communication systems with other mental health 

services in order to provide effective support to service users. There are weekly 

interface meetings with the primary care mental health service, weekly ward 

rounds for service users admitted to the mental health unit and twice weekly 

meetings with the Crisis team.  

Staff said the CMHT would facilitate the access of existing service users who 

need crisis support, with the Crisis team. Staff also said that new service users 

have direct access to Crisis team and would not need to be assessed by the 

CMHT first. This is positive because it means service users do not need to attend 

multiple assessments before receiving care.   

Most service users who completed a questionnaire said they knew who to contact 

if they needed support out-of-hours. All but one of those service users who had 

contacted the service in the last 12 months said they got the help they needed. 

The majority of service users also said they knew how to contact the CMHT if 

they had a crisis and all of those who had contacted the CMHT in a crisis in the 

last 12 months said they got the help they needed.  

Staff explained that if service users did not attend for their appointments, the 

CMHT would be proactive and explore the reasons behind this and provide 

additional support if needed, rather than simply closing their case. This means 

that the needs of service users are considered in a holistic way.  

In order to help facilitate access to the consultant psychiatrist for service users 

who don't live close to Merthyr Tydfil, one of the consultant psychiatrists runs a 

weekly clinic within a GP practice in another part of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg 

area. We noted this as a good way to enable service users to access the 

treatment they need more easily.  

Page 81



 

Page 14 of 29 

We explored some of the waiting times for access to psychology and medical 

appointments. We were told that non-urgent medical appointments usually take 

place within three to four weeks, but could be seen more quickly depending on 

their acuity. Staff said that for psychological services an initial assessment would 

take place in under one month, with a wait of three to four months for one to one 

intervention/treatment.  

It was positive to find the CMHT had attempted to help service users get access 

to therapies more quickly through running groups and clinics, including 

stabilisation group, anxiety sessions and psychology clinics. We saw feedback 

from service users following the 'have your say day' showed they valued sessions 

on anxiety and indicated that more sessions like this would help service users 

get support more quickly. We advised the service to consider this.  

As in a number of areas of Wales, staff explained there were often issues with 

transporting service users to hospital for assessment and/or treatment. The 

service was primarily reliant upon the Welsh Ambulance Service Trust (WAST) 

for transport provision, and average waiting times were between four to six hours. 

We were told that this often meant delays for service users accessing the care 

and treatment needed.  

The transport delay had the potential to negatively impact directly on the service 

user experience and their health and well-being. It also had the potential to 

directly impact upon staff accompanying service users, who would also be 

required to wait long periods of time. To help resolve these potential  issues,  staff  

explained that the health board had a private contract in place with St John's 

ambulance and they could access this service for transport, if WAST were not 

able to attend in a timely way. It was positive to see the health board had been 

proactive in trying to address this issue and staff told us they had not had 

difficulties in accessing this alternative ambulance service if required.  

 

Page 82



 

Page 15 of 29 

Delivery of safe and effective care 

We considered the extent to which services provide high quality, safe 

and reliable care centred on individual patients. 

Overall, we found service users were being provided with safe and 

effective care by the CMHT team. Care was planned in a way that 

was person centred and responsive to the needs of service users.  

The CMHT environment was well maintained and fit for purpose 

and we found evidence that medicines were administered safely.  

We found care and treatment plans and statutory documentation for 

service users detained under the Mental Health Act were detailed 

and completed to a high standard.  

There was a multidisciplinary approach to planning and providing 

care and treatment to service users, with a good level of 

engagement from service users directly into their care plans. 

However, we noted it was not always clear whether the care plan 

has been signed to indicate it had been agreed with service users.  

A robust safeguarding process was described. However, we found 

that some staff were not up-to-date with safeguarding training. 

Managing risk and promoting health and safety 

Overall, we found the CMHT environment was well maintained and fit for 

purpose. The CMHT is located within Kier Hardie Health Park which is 

designated as a public access building and contains a range of other healthcare 

services, including GP practices, the primary mental health team and the drug 

and alcohol team. This means the location is convenient and accessible for 

service users.  

The CMHT waiting room, clinic and therapy rooms were spacious and provided 

a pleasant environment for service users to receive care.  

CMHT staff are located in an open plan office, together with other service teams. 

Through discussions with staff, we found that the open plan office environment 

was conducive to communication and joint working across the team. It also 

helped contribute to the physical sense of integration between health and social 

care staff.   

Page 83



 

Page 16 of 29 

Medicines Management 

We found the clinic room was well maintained and fit for purpose in order to 

facilitate safe injectable medication to service users. We found there were 

appropriate facilities to enable effective infection control.  

We looked at a number of medication records and whilst we found them to be 

appropriate, we noticed that the medication charts didn’t have sufficient space 

for community teams to use easily. We advised the health board to consider how 

this could be improved.  

The clinic room is used to run two separate clinics for antipsychotic medications. 

Staff explained that the CMHT can also facilitate service users to have injectable 

medication at home, if they prefer this. We saw this as a good way of enabling 

service user choice.  

It was also positive to find that the CMHT ran a health and well-being clinic for a 

range of service users, including those with eating disorders and those who need 

to have the physical effects of their antipsychotic medication monitored. Staff said 

this clinic had been successful and had become increasingly popular with service 

users. 

Assessment, care planning and review 

Overall, we felt that care was planned in a way that was person centred and 

responsive to the needs of service users.  

Service users we spoke with were very positive about the care they had received 

from the CMHT and felt involved in their care plans. Almost all service users who 

completed a questionnaire felt either very, or quite, involved in the development 

of their care plan. Just over two thirds of the service users who completed a 

questionnaire said they received a copy of their care plan. The majority of service 

users, who had been in contact with the CMHT for more than a year, said they 

had a formal meeting or review with their care-coordinator to discuss how their 

care is working and felt involved in these meetings. Service users also felt they 

were given the opportunity to challenge any aspect of their care during their 

formal meeting or review. 

We reviewed a sample of care and treatment plans and found these to be of a 

high standard. It was positive to see the use of 'I statements' within these care 

plans which help demonstrate that the views and wishes of service users have 

been incorporated and encourages staff to write the care plan from the service 

user's perspective. We also saw evidence of holistic and person centred support 

being provided to service users, including support for carers.  

Page 84



 

Page 17 of 29 

We saw evidence that most service users had seen and agreed to their care and 

treatment plans. However, we found it was not always clear whether the care and 

treatment plan had been signed by the service user or care-coordinator to 

demonstrate the plan had been agreed by both parties.  

 

Improvement needed 

The service must ensure care and treatment plans are consistently signed by 

service users and care-coordinators to demonstrate the plan has been 

agreed.  

Patient discharge arrangements 

During this inspection, we were not able to see evidence of discharge planning 

within the care and treatment plans we reviewed. However, we found that care 

and treatment plans showed elements of timely internal referrals to other parts of 

the service such as occupational therapy and psychology.  

Safeguarding 

Staff we spoke with were clear about their responsibilities in relation to 

safeguarding adults and children. Staff described a clear process for reporting 

any safeguarding concerns. Staff also said the CMHT has a good relationship 

with the multi-agency safeguarding hub in Pontypridd which oversees the 

safeguarding activity in Rhondda Cynon Taf. Staff said they receive good support 

and advice from this hub to support robust safeguarding practice. 

Staff also said they have relationships with children’s services and have seen 

positive outcomes for service users and their children through working closely 

with children's services to support the family.  

Although there were appropriate safeguarding practices in place, we found that 

a number of healthcare staff were not up-to-date with their mandatory 

safeguarding training. Staff told us this was due to a lack of available training 

courses. We discussed the importance of addressing this with staff during the 

inspection.  

 

Improvement needed 

The health board must ensure that staff are able to access and complete 

safeguarding training.  

Page 85



 

Page 18 of 29 

Compliance with specific standards and regulations 

Mental Health Act Monitoring 

We reviewed the statutory documents of two service users.  

At the time of our inspection, only three service users were receiving treatment 

under the Mental Health Act, one of whom was on Section 17 leave4. We 

reviewed two records of service users under the Mental Health Act. We found 

both records to be fully compliant with the Mental Health Act and Code of 

Practice.  

We found that the admission and detention process recorded in both documents 

were within legal constraints and of a high standard. Records were well 

organised, detailed and comprehensive.  

We saw evidence that regular Mental Health Act audits were undertaken. We 

were told that all legal issues are monitored at a monthly Mental Health Act 

monitoring committee which is attended by senior members of the health board.    

We found Mental Health Act training is held regularly for staff and training 

packages are available online.  

Monitoring the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010: Care planning and 

provision 

We found that the CMHT were using appropriate tools to assess service users' 

needs, and found that this addressed the dimensions of life as set out in the 

Mental Health Measure, and the domains set out in the Social Services and Well-

being (Wales) Act 2014. 

We found that the assessment of service users' needs was proportionate and 

appropriate. We found there was a multidisciplinary, person centred approach to 

assessment, care planning and review. Records demonstrated that service users 

were involved in the development of the care and treatment plans.    

                                            

 

 

4 This means that while a person is detained under the Mental Health Act, they may be able to 

leave the hospital if authorised by the doctor or clinician in charge of their care (also known as 

the Responsible Clinician). This leave is often referred to as ‘Section 17 leave’ as it refers to 

Section 17 of the Mental Health Act 

Page 86



 

Page 19 of 29 

Care plans were generally well structured and person centred and reflected 

service users’ emotional, psychological and general health and well-being needs. 

We also found that carer involvement within care and treatment plans was 

documented.  

We found there were weekly audits of care and treatment plans with a named 

person responsible for actions identified.  

Compliance with Social Services and Well-being Act 

Overall, we found that the views and wishes of service users were the main focus 

of the work conducted by the CMHT.  

During inspection, we found evidence that the principles set out in the Social 

Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, were being supported. This is 

because we were told by service users that they were being supported to actively 

participate in their assessments and the design of their care and treatment plans. 

Page 87



 

Page 20 of 29 

Quality of management and leadership 

We considered how services are managed and led and whether the 

workplace and organisational culture supports the provision of safe 

and effective care. We also considered how the service review and 

monitor their own performance against the Health and Care 

Standards and the Social Services and Well-being Act. 

We were pleased to find an effective model of service management 

and a positive culture of true integration within the CMHT. We felt 

this was good practice and is a model that other CMHTs could learn 

from. 

Throughout this inspection we have identified areas of noteworthy 

practice which demonstrate the commitment and proactivity of the 

team in continuing to improve the care provided to their service 

users.  

However, we were concerned to find the long standing difficulties 

around IT systems meaning that other health services, including the 

Crisis team, do not have access to CMHT records. This could 

impact upon service user care and safety if the right up-to-date 

information is not available to the right service staff at the right time. 

 

Leadership, management and governance arrangements 

We found that all staff demonstrated a clear passion and commitment to 

delivering a good level of care and treatment to their service users. 

It was very positive to see strong integration within the CMHT between health 

and social care staff. It was clear in all our discussions with staff that they see 

themselves as a truly integrated team and are proud of the work they do. As 

mentioned earlier in this report, staff told us that multidisciplinary working is 

positive and all members of staff are valued and actively encouraged to 

participate within multidisciplinary team meetings. We saw that integrated 

working was also supported by the layout of the office environment which 

encouraged staff members of different disciplines to sit together. It was evident 

from our discussions with staff that there was good peer support amongst the 

team, with staff from different disciplines learning from and supporting each other.  

Page 88



 

Page 21 of 29 

We found strong, effective and supportive management and leadership was 

provided by the two CMHT leaders who appeared to work seamlessly together 

to support all CMHT staff and to deliver a high quality service. Staff we spoke 

with were positive about the support they received from both CMHT leaders and 

felt they were able to approach either leader for advice. A number of staff 

members we spoke with particularly mentioned the positive culture within the 

team and felt this was of personal and professional benefit to them.  

At the time of the inspection, the staff team were stable with a low level of 

sickness absences across the team. Staff told us that if a care-coordinator is off 

for more than a few weeks, their caseload is reallocated. This minimises the 

impact on the care of service users.  

We found the CMHT used an electronic allocation system when assigning a 

caseload to staff. Staff explained that this system was able to facilitate the 

weighting of caseloads based on complexity, and this was taken into account 

alongside other caseloads and responsibilities (such as AMHP roles), when 

assigning work to practitioners. We noted this as a good way to ensure caseload 

allocation was manageable for staff and assigned fairly.  

As highlighted earlier, it was positive to see a weekly consultant led clinic based 

in a GP practice, within the Cwm Taf Morgannwg area. However, in discussions 

with staff, it appeared that collaborative working with GPs across the health board 

was mixed. Whilst we were told there are positive relationships with a number of 

GPs, with others we were told of a lack of understanding and engagement with 

the CMHT.  

We saw evidence that healthcare staff had completed annual appraisals. Staff 

explained that social services were introducing appraisals for social care staff 

from April 2019. Staff told us they were able to access training and were 

supported to attend training to assist with their professional development. 

However, when we looked at the mandatory training compliance for health staff, 

we noticed that update training was needed on violence and aggression, 

safeguarding and moving and handling. 

In our review of documentation and discussions with staff, we were concerned to 

find the inherent difficulties around the IT systems. Whilst the CMHT has 

integrated health and social care records on an IT system called WCCIS, other 

health services, including the Crisis team, do not have access to this system. 

This means that staff have to record information on different IT platforms and 

have to work around the IT system to ensure that information is shared with other 

relevant health and social care professionals, in a secure and timely way. Staff 

explained that this may cause possible risk to service user care and safety if the 

right up-to-date information is not available to the right service staff at the right 

time. For example, the Crisis team, who may see CMHT service users out-of-

Page 89



 

Page 22 of 29 

hours, are reliant on the diligence of CMHT staff to ensure they can access the 

latest information about service users who may need crisis support. 

We discussed our concerns with senior members of the health board during the 

inspection, who assured us that this was captured as a high risk on the 

organisation's risk register. However, given this is a long standing issue, a more 

robust IT solution is needed.   

Improvement needed 

The health board must consider how they can facilitate better engagement 

and understanding between GPs and the CMHT.  

The health board must ensure staff are compliant with mandatory training.  

The health board must provide HIW with the actions and progress on 

addressing the long standing issues with the IT system, including ensuring 

the Crisis team have access to the CMHT records.   

Page 90



 

Page 23 of 29 

4. What next? 

Where we have identified improvements and immediate concerns during our 

inspection which require the service to take action, these are detailed in the 

following ways within the appendices of this report (where these apply): 

 Appendix A: Includes a summary of any concerns regarding patient 

safety which were escalated and resolved during the inspection 

 Appendix B:  Includes any immediate concerns regarding patient 

safety where we require the service to complete an immediate 

improvement plan telling us about the urgent actions they are taking  

 Appendix C:  Includes any other improvements identified during the 

inspection where we require the service to complete an improvement 

plan telling us about the actions they are taking to address these areas 

The improvement plans should: 

 Clearly state when and how the findings identified will be addressed, 

including timescales  

 Ensure actions taken in response to the issues identified are specific, 

measurable, achievable, realistic and timed 

 Include enough detail to provide HIW and the public with assurance 

that the findings identified will be sufficiently addressed. 

As a result of the findings from this inspection the service should: 

 Ensure that findings are not systemic across other areas within the 

wider organisation 

 Provide HIW with updates where actions remain outstanding and/or in 

progress, to confirm when these have been addressed. 

The improvement plan, once agreed, will be published on HIW’s website. 

 

Page 91



 

Page 24 of 29 

5. How we inspect community mental 

health teams 

Our inspections of community mental health teams are announced. The service 

receives up to 12 weeks notice of the inspection.   

Feedback is made available to service representatives at the end of the 

inspection, in a way which supports learning, development and improvement at 

both operational and strategic levels. 

We check how CMHTs are meeting the Health and Care Standards 2015, Social 

Services and Well-being Act (Wales) 2014 comply with the Mental Health Act 

1983 and Mental Capacity Act 2005. We consider other professional standards 

and guidance as applicable.  

These inspections capture a snapshot of the standards of care within community 

mental health teams. 

Further detail about how HIW inspects mental health and the NHS can be found 

on our website. 

 

 

Page 92

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/150402standardsen.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
http://hiw.org.uk/about/whatwedo/mentalhealth/?lang=en
http://hiw.org.uk/docs/hiw/guidance/170328inspectnhsen.pdf


 

Page 25 of 29 

Appendix A – Summary of concerns resolved during the inspection 

The table below summaries the concerns identified and escalated during our inspection. Due to the impact/potential impact on patient 

care and treatment these concerns needed to be addressed straight away, during the inspection. 

 

Immediate concerns identified Impact/potential impact 
on patient care and 
treatment  

How HIW escalated the 
concern 

 

How the concern was 
resolved 

No immediate concerns identified  

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 93



 

Page 26 of 29 

Appendix B – Immediate improvement plan 

Service:    Merthyr Tydfil CMHT 

   

Date of inspection:  5 and 6 March 2019 

The table below includes any immediate concerns about patient safety identified during the inspection where we require the service 

to complete an immediate improvement plan telling us about the urgent actions they are taking.  

  

Immediate improvement 
needed 

Standard Service action Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

No immediate improvements 

needed 

     

  

P
age 94



 

Page 27 of 29 

Appendix C – Improvement plan 

Service:    Merthyr Tydfil CMHT 

   

Date of inspection:  5 and 6 March 2019 

The table below includes any other improvements identified during the inspection where we require the service to complete an 

improvement plan telling us about the actions they are taking to address these areas. 

 

Improvement needed Standard Service action 
Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

Delivery of safe and effective care  

The service must ensure care and 

treatment plans are consistently 

signed by service users and care-

coordinators to demonstrate the 

plan has been agreed. 

3.5 Record 

keeping 

 Health and Social 

Care Leads 

  

The health board must ensure that 

staff are able to access and 

complete safeguarding training. 

2.7 

Safeguardin

g children 

and adults at 

risk 

  Health Leads    

P
age 95



 

Page 28 of 29 

Improvement needed Standard Service action 
Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

Quality of management and leadership 

The health board must consider 

how they can facilitate better 

engagement and understanding 

between GPs and the CMHT.  

The health board must ensure 

staff are compliant with mandatory 

training.  

The health board must provide 

HIW with the actions and progress 

on addressing the long standing 

issues with the IT system, 

including ensuring the Crisis team 

have access to the CMHT records.   

Health and 

Care 

Standards - 

Governance

, Leadership 

and 

Accountabili

ty; 7.1 

Workforce; 

Social 

Services 

and Well-

being 

(Wales) Act 

- Part 8 

 Health Leads     

 

The following section must be completed by a representative of the service who has overall responsibility and accountability for 
ensuring the improvement plan is actioned.  

Service representative  

Name (print):    

Job role:    

P
age 96



 

Page 29 of 29 

Date:     

 

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Improvement plan 

Service:    Merthyr Tydfil CMHT  

Date of inspection:  5 and 6 March 2019 

The table below includes any other improvements identified during the inspection where we require the service to complete an 

improvement plan telling us about the actions they are taking to address these areas. 

 

Improvement needed Standard Service action 
Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

Delivery of safe and effective care  

The service must ensure care 

and treatment plans are 

consistently signed by service 

users and care-coordinators to 

demonstrate the plan has been 

agreed. 

3.5 Record 

keeping 

The service recognises, 

obtaining a signature from 

service users is not always 

done in a timely manner.  

Through the audit process we 

have identified improvements 

in this area and we will work 

together to further explore 

potential digital solutions that 

may improve compliance in 

this area.  

Progress on this in all teams 

Health and Social 

Care Leads 

Directorate 

manager and 

head of adult 

services  

31st October 

2019 

P
age 99



Improvement needed Standard Service action 
Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

will be monitored through the 

Care & Treatment Planning 

Monitoring Group 

The health board must ensure 

that staff are able to access and 

complete safeguarding training. 

2.7 

Safeguardin

g children 

and adults 

at risk 

 

Alternative safeguarding 

training is being sourced and 

we will ensure  this training is 

captured on the  Electronic 

Staff Record, the Health Board 

aim is to achieve and maintain 

a minimum of 85% compliance 

at all times  

 Health Lead Health team 

leader 

31st July 2019 

Quality of management and leadership 

The health board must consider 

how they can facilitate better 

engagement and understanding 

between GPs and the CMHT.  

 

 

 

 

 

Health and 

Care 

Standards - 

Governance

, Leadership 

and 

Accountabili

ty; 7.1 

Workforce; 

Social 

Services 

and Well-

The Health Board 

acknowledges that 

improvement in communication 

between mental health 

services and GP practices 

requires continued work. 

 

A new Health Board Mental 

Health management structure 

is being developed that will aid 

working and engagement at 

Health Leads   

 

 

 

 

 

Health 

 

Clinical Director 

 

 

 

 

 

Assistant 

Director 

Operations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st October 

2019 

 

P
age 100



Improvement needed Standard Service action 
Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The health board must ensure 

staff are compliant with 

mandatory training.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The health board must provide 

HIW with the actions and 

progress on addressing the long 

standing issues with the IT 

being 

(Wales) Act 

- Part 8 

primary care cluster levels and 

new Clinical Director roles will 

have responsibility for leading 

this improved engagement with 

primary care. The structure will 

be implemented through 2019.  

 

Most of the team are compliant 

in many areas of mandatory 

training and this has improved 

in the last month to achieve 

80% or above in almost all 

areas. The Team leader 

through supervision and 

personal development reviews 

will ensure that the full team 

are at a minimum 85% 

compliant with their mandatory 

training requirements and this 

will be evident on the 

Electronic Staff Record.  

 

There is a risk assessment in 

place for this issue with clear 

actions to work towards 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Health 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Health & Local 

Authority 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Team Leader 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Head of Service 

Local Authority 

& Assistant 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st July 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st October 

2019 

P
age 101



Improvement needed Standard Service action 
Health/Social 
Services Lead 

Responsible 
officer 

Timescale 

system, including ensuring the 

Crisis team have access to the 

CMHT records.   

resolving issues with the 

national Welsh Community 

Care Informatics System 

(WCCIS) and the Local 

Authorities who have led on 

system roll out. 

 

Progress on these actions are 

reported on monthly to the 

Executive lead for mental 

health. One area of action 

relates to teams, which would 

include crisis having access to 

information and solutions are 

being progressed as joint 

organisations to achieve this. 

 

Director 

Operations 

Health Board  

 

 

The following section must be completed by a representative of the service who has overall responsibility and accountability for 
ensuring the improvement plan is actioned.  

Service representative  

Name (print):    

Job role:    

P
age 102



Date:     

 

 

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached work programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 1st July 2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 9th July 2019 

Page 105

Agenda Item 7



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 106



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 107



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 108



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

17th April 2019 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 17th April 2019  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s44203/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


  

APPENDIX I 

Page 110



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Date / Timing 
PROPOSED 

Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 
Member  

Scrutiny Focus  

11th June 2019 

Annual Forward Work 
Programme (2019/20) 

Cllr. Bill Smith and 
Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To consider and approve the Forward Work Programme for Social 
Services (2019/2020). 

Young Carers Annual 
Report (2018/19) 
 

Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Summary report providing a position statement on the 
performance within 2018/19, along with any details of issues/barriers experienced and 
how these have been overcome. The report is also to consider key areas for development 
and improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 

Safeguarding Board 
Annual Report and 
Plan (2018/19) 

Nicola Kingham and 
officers / Jon Eyre / Cllr 
Chris Davies 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide a summary of the 2018/19 Safeguarding Board Annual 
Regional Plan and also identify the key areas of improvement going forward both 
regionally and in Merthyr Tydfil. 

9th July 2019 

Cwm Taf Youth 
Offending Service 
(YOS) Annual Report  
(2018/19) 

Annabel Lloyd / 
Lyndon Lewis  

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Youth Offending Service (YOS) is a multi-agency team which is 
made up of members of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, Substance Misuse and 
Social Services; as well as other specific to the team.  The YOS deals with young people 
between the ages of 10 and 18 who are involved in the criminal justice system and those 
who are just on the periphery of becoming involved in the system. The Cwm Taf Youth 
Offending Service (YOS) last presented a progress update report to scrutiny on 24th July 
2018 based on the Post Inspection Action Plan.   
 
The committee requires a position statement on the performance within the Cwm Taf 
region (2018/19), along with any details of issues/barriers experienced and how these 
have been overcome. The report is also to consider key areas for development and 
improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

Reconfiguration of 
Homes 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / 
Chris Davies/ Lowri 
Morgan / Angela 
Edevane  

Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to include an update and feedback from the recent 
consultation and a detailed plan prior to its submission to Full Council.   
 

ACRF - Annual Report 
on Social Services 
(2018/19) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr 
Chris Davis / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 
/ Lorna Townsend  

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Draft ACRF was brought to Scrutiny on 7th May 2019 to provide 
comment and challenge as a part of the Consultation process. This report should contain 
all further updates from any additional consultation and previous comments made by 
Scrutiny, before submitting to Full Council.  
 

P
age 111



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Mental Health 
Inspection (2019/20?) 
Feedback Report 

Angela Edevane / 
Alyson Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The report should consider the strengths and development areas 
highlighted within the recent Mental Health Inspection feedback report, and also to 
consider key areas for improvement within Merthyr Tydfil for 2019/20. 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

17th September 2019 

Mid-year update on 
Social Services 
Complaints, 
Representations and 
Compliments Report.  
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Local Authorities are required to the Social Services Complaints 
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social Services 
Complaints, Representations and Compliments Policy and Procedures.  
 
The annual report (2018/19) was presented to Scrutiny on 12th March 2019. The 
committee has requested a mid-year (2019/20) report be brought back for consideration 
and challenge. The committee expects further information on complaints within the 
report (e.g. the areas the complaints were made, what processes etc. has been 
changed/introduced in order to reduce the number of complaints etc.).  
 

Adult Services 
Strategies (2019/20)  
Q2/mid-year update 

Angela Edevane Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide a mid-year update on 
strategies applicable to Adult Social Services. 
 

A mid-year update on 
Cwm Taf Integrated 
Family Support Team 
(IFST) (2019/20) 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide a regional mid-year position statement on the Cwm Taf 
IFST services, and also provide an update on the Edge of Care Service (EOC) within MTCBC. 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 1: 
Outcomes 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation 
process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and 
identify and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s 
response to the first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be 
required to scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with 
relevant supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 112



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

8th October 2019 

Children Services 
Strategies (2019/20)  
Q2/mid-year update 
 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a mid-year update on 
strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services. 
 

Budget Position 
Statement (2019/20) 
Q2/mid-year update 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr 
Chris Davies / Stacey 
Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny providing an update on 
Social Services budget for Quarter 1 and Quarter 2, areas of likely overspend and the 
measures that have been put in place to help reduce any overspend within the 
department.    

A mid-year update on 
the Safeguarding 
Board Annual Report 
and Plan (2019/20) 

Nicola Kingham and 
officers / Jon Eyre / Cllr 
Chris Davies 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide a summary of the 2018/19 Safeguarding Board Annual 
Regional Plan and also identify the key areas of improvement going forward both 
regionally and in Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

10th December 2019 

Vale, Valleys And 
Cardiff Adoption 
Collaborative (VVC) 
Annual Report 
(2018/19) and 
2019/20 Merthyr 
Tydfil update  

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to provide a regional annual position summary 
(2018/19) along with a current position update on this service within Merthyr Tydfil 
(2019/20). 
 

SS&WB Regional Plan 
– progress update 
(2019/20) 
Q2/mid-year update 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to provide a regional annual position summary 
(2018/19) along with a current position update on this service within Merthyr Tydfil 
(2019/20). 
 

A mid-year update on 
Young Carers 
 

Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny with a mid-year update on 
Carers Strategy and the impact it is having on the Young Carers.  Details should also be 
provided on any issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome or how 
you plan to overcome them.  

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 2: 
Outcomes 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify 
and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to 
the first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to 
scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 

P
age 113



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

21st January 2020 

Adult Services 
Strategies (2019/20)  
Q3 update 

Angela Edevane Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide a mid-year update on 
strategies applicable to Adult Social Services. 
 

Corporate Parenting 
Update 

Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  To provide data and performance in relation to Corporate 
Parenting 

Budget Position 
Statement (2019/20) 
update 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr 
Chris Davies / Stacey 
Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny providing an update on 
Social Services budget for Quarter 1, 2 and 3, and areas of likely overspend and the 
measures that have been put in place to help reduce any overspend within the 
department.  This report should also give any details of issues/barriers experienced and 
how these have been overcome. 
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

10th March 2020 

Children Services 
Strategies (2019/20)  
Q3/end of year update 
 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a Quarter 3/end of year 
update on strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services. 
 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 3: 
Outcomes 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify 
and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to 
the first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to 
scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 114



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

5th May 2020 

Annual Complaints 
Report (2019/20) 
End of year update 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Local Authorities are required to the Social Services Complaints 
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social Services 
Complaints, Representations and Compliments Policy and Procedures.  
 
A mid-year report (2019/20) was presented to Scrutiny in September 2019. The 
committee has requested an end of year report (2019/20) for consideration and 
challenge. The report should include any details of issues/barriers experienced and how 
these have been overcome. The report is also to identify key areas for development and 
improvement for 2020/21. 

ACRF Report (2019/20) 
(consultation) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following a consultation workshop with Scrutiny Members; a 
report summarising key messages from the Annual Report on Social Services 2019/2020 
will be presented for information. 
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

LAC Work (Welsh 
Government visit)  

This would be better delivered in the form of a presentation when the information is available. 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Fostering Inspection 
Report  and Fostering 
Framework Report  
 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Advocacy Annual 
Report  
 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Self Evaluation Reports  Early indication would suggest there are three reports throughout the scrutiny cycle (1 report per SER question). 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Possibility of a Joint 
Scrutiny with Learning 

Possible topics to consider:  

 Educational Achievements of Children Looked After (CLA) and Care Leavers; 

P
age 115



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 

 and LGES   Tackling Poverty; 

 Community Zones; and 

 Early Years Learning. 

 Violence against 
Women Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (Annual 
report 2018/19) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  
/ Annabel Lloyd / 
Cllr Chris Davies / 
Deborah Evans 
(SMT) / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is a member of the Cwm Taf 
Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Steering Group, 
which is the lead partnership taking forward the Cwm Taf regions implementation of the 
Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015. 
 

The Committee would like to receive a summary report providing a position statement on 
‘Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence’ within the Cwm Taf region 
(2018/19). The report should include any details of issues/barriers experienced and how these 
have been overcome. The report is also to consider key areas for development and 
improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 

P
age 116


	Agenda
	3 Youth Offending Service
	4 Reconfiguration of Adult Accommodation Services
	5 Annual Report on Social Services (2018/19)
	Appendix 1

	6 Inspection of Community Mental Health Team
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	7 Forward Work Programme 2019/20
	Appendix 1


